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DAY 3 – 01 APRIL 2015 
 

  [9.37 am] 

 

SJH:   Yes, good morning.  Just some housekeeping matters before we start.  5 

Firstly, on a completely independent matter, the memo that was issued 

relating to the Lyttelton Port and the special Port zone, Ms Scott, can 

you ensure that all the memorandum that have been served on the 

Secretariat go to the full Council meeting so the Council is aware of it? 

 10 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, I can, sir, absolutely. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, I am grateful for that.   And my original minute that led to it. 

 

MS SCOTT:  Yes, I will make sure all the minutes related to that go and 15 

memoranda. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you. 20 

 

SJH:   The second thing is, following the questioning of Mr Blair yesterday, it 

seems to us that it would be helpful that if Mr Blair and his team could 

give us a further iteration which includes what we have euphemistically 

called typos because some of the mistakes go a little bit beyond typos, 25 

there are things appearing in the wrong place and such like, so the 

corrections that are needed. 

 

 Secondly, the concessions that have been made by the various Council 

witnesses. 30 

 

 Thirdly, a list of the controlled, the areas where Mr Blair believes 

controlled activities would be appropriate and deal with that.  And I 

think the Crown could also be involved in that aspect, Mr Radich, to 

the extent where you agree, we don’t want competing views, this is just 35 

a housekeeping redraft. 

 

MR RADICH:  Yes. 

 

SJH:   And the final one would be the collapsing of the repetitive matters that 40 

appear right through the rules.   

 

 Yes, rather than drafting the controlled activities just as a separate list. 

 

MS SCOTT:  Yes, sir, thank you.  And yesterday the Crown handed up, it was 45 

an attachment to their legal submissions, but a table of areas of 
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outstanding disagreement from Ms McIntyre.  We are working through 

those at the moment and I can indicate that there are some where the 

Council officers agree, and that certainly can be included in that 

version as well. 

 5 

SJH:   Well, if they can be included in that redraft and in a way where all the 

various changes are identified so that we are quite clear where they 

come from. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, sir. 10 

 

SJH:   A clean version and a track version. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, so it will be a clean version with what has been accepted 

over top compared to the 26 - - - 15 

 

  [9.40 am] 

 

SJH:   Well, no, I think just a completely clean version. 

 20 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, yes, sir. 

 

SJH:   But also another version which tracks all the changes and identifies it is 

a correction, it is a concession, it is a further agreement with the Crown 

et cetera. 25 

 

MS SCOTT:   I understand, sir, so that would be compared to the 26 March 

version? 

 

SJH:   Yes. 30 

 

 Are you still comfortable with Mr Blair’s timeframe yesterday? 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, I will double check that with him and that is his indication 

of timing so - - - 35 

 

SJH:   And the concessions, I mean there was concessions from the people who 

cross-examined and the concessions from questions from the Panel but 

there was also concessions to a number of submissions that is included 

in Mr Blair’s evidence that would need to be included. A number 40 

around commercial zones for example, and things like that, that would 

need to be included. 

 

 Ms Dawson has properly raised the question what if there is further 

concessions made in the course of hearing evidence and further 45 

submissions, but that would require the recall of Mr Blair to agree to 
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them I think.  So I don’t think we need concern ourselves other than to 

keep a careful record of them if there are concessions made as we go 

along. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, sir, there is also the third statement of rebuttal that will 5 

come in at the end of this week from Mr Blair that will need to be taken 

into account as well. 

 

SJH:   Yes, okay, thank you.  All right, now, Mr Radich, we got a very lengthy 

written opening from you which kind of threw me because I understood 10 

there was to be a joint opening, and it is carefully recorded in the 

transcript there was to a be joint opening, so I am not quite sure where 

that came from but I understand you are going to give us the history of 

the world in 60 seconds so to speak. 

 15 

MR RADICH:   That is right, sir. 

 

SJH:   For our Easter reading. 

 

MR RADICH:   Well, if that is acceptable, sir, the position was just to clarify 20 

that my learned friend and I had discussed that I might just say a few 

words, as I did at the end of her opening to make the Crown’s position 

clear and that we might open but I am afraid I am sorry that got lost in 

translation. So there is a document there, it has been carefully prepared, 

I leave it to you for a read, if I may, but if I can just navigate through it 25 

as quickly as I can and I will do so in about a minute to identify the key 

extracts if it is to hand to members of the Panel. 

 

 The first point I make is in paragraph 2 and there is identified the 

Crown’s primary high level position in relation to this chapter, this 30 

proposal from the outset, intensification opportunities, consenting 

processes streamlined, supporting a range of housing types, enabling 

redevelopment and innovative design. 

 

 The next point I make is paragraph 13, the points the submissions come 35 

down to address. So consolidating matters for the purpose of this 

hearing these are the four primary points, the general issue of housing 

supply, residential intensification, brownfields’ redevelopment and the 

provision of community opportunities. I mention just quickly 

paragraph 15, the top of page 6, and the accord which is a useful 40 

document and the top of page 6 mentions an extract which talks about 

minimising barriers to development.   

 

 I pass on to 22H on page 8, this is dealing with the position of housing 

supply and the point there made from Mr Mitchell ultimately the 45 
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current trend favouring greenfield will continue if the intensification 

targets are not met.  

 

 I move right through to paragraph 43, where having spoken about the 

evidence on intensification, the conclusion or the concern is, in the last 5 

sentence on page 16, that the prospect of the revised proposal meeting 

the target appears too slim to take the chance or to leave to chance is 

the concern. 

 

 At paragraph 49, and this has been clearly discussed during the hearing 10 

to date, there are two options the Crown suggests to deal with its 

concern, if the Panel shares it, and the first of them is to look at new 

RMD zones through using clear criteria of the type that is identified in 

the new policy 14.1.1(a). 

 15 

  [9.45 am] 

 

 Paragraph 51, the second option is to just use that policy so that it can 

be there as a guide for future re-notified areas, and if I can just identify 

or point to the fact that over the next couple of pages in the 20 

submissions, 19 and 20 and 21 there is some of the legal principles 

about any concerns there might in endeavouring to director a policy, a 

future action on the part of a Council and the point made in those 

authorities is that policies regarding future intention are just that, they 

do not give rise to a binding duty, they are perfectly acceptable, but 25 

they cannot fetor future discretion, so when people have endeavoured 

to enforce such provisions they have fallen shy, but the provisions 

themselves are acceptable. 

 

 The next point I make is the noise contour, paragraph 63 of the 30 

submission, the Crown’s position is, that it is, not correct to but rather 

existing residential zone urban land is a spatial zoning, it is not based 

on the timing of the coming into force of those provisions, and 

intensification is anticipated in the areas. 

 35 

 The next point, paragraph 66, Brownfield and the point is just made 

that the brownfield provisions the Crown were – was concerned with 

“had been” now “dealt with”, the same is so with community facilities, 

paragraph 71, paragraph 75, culling of red tape, the Crown does play 

tribute to the Council for the way in which it has gone about it but it 40 

has these concerns about the document structure. 

 

 And finally, paragraph 87, revisions, they are in the table, they are 

being worked through. Particular points, the matters of discretion with 

urban design and the sustainability principles, as has been discussed 45 

through evidence. 
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 So that was a “whistle stop”, sir, but that is the key point or key points I 

wish to make. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. Any questions, Dr Mitchell? 5 

 

DR MITCHELL:   No thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   No thank you. 

 

SJH:   Mr Sax? 

 

MR SAX:   No thank you, sir. 15 

 

SJH:   Judge. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Mr Radich, we heard evidence yesterday from Mr Blair 

around areas that had not been chosen for intensification and one that 20 

springs to mind is Hornby - - -  

 

MR RADICH:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   - - - the Crown’s position on the two choices and I have 25 

read the Crown’s submissions on the limits to which a policy can give 

force or mandate the Council to act. 

 

 I presume the Crown’s position could allow for a hybrid of the two 

options and does the Crown have a view at this stage on the Hornby 30 

matter for instance? 

 

MR RADICH:   When your Honour mentions a “hybrid”, may I ask you - - -  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Perhaps one in which there might be a limited direction 35 

given on certain intensification areas being put on the table during the 

process, rather than everything. 

 

MR RADICH:   Yes, having looked at the cases, sir, I do not believe that 

would offend the principles at all. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, and – okay, well we will explore the rest through, 

very good. 

 

MR RADICH:   Yes. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Yes, Mr Radich. 5 

 

MR RADICH:   Sir, call Kenneth George Gimblett, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 10 

<KENNETH GEORGE GIMBLETT, affirmed [9.48 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR RADICH [9.49 am] 

 

MR RADICH:   Yes, now your full name is Kenneth George Gimblett? 

 

MR GIMBLETT:   Yes it is. 5 

 

MR RADICH:   And you are the Senior Resource Management Planner and 

Director with Boffa Miskell Limited in Christchurch? 

 

MR GIMBLETT:   I am. 10 

 

MR RADICH:   And you have given a statement of evidence, Mr Gimblett, 

dated 20 March 2015? 

 

MR GIMBLETT:   I have. 15 

 

MR RADICH:   And you have no corrections to make of that statement? 

 

MR GIMBLETT:   No, I do not. 

 20 

MR RADICH:   And do you confirm it to be true and correct? 

 

MR GIMBLETT:   I do. 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you. Please would you now give a summary of your 25 

evidence to the Panel? 

 

MR GIMBLETT:   My evidence relates to the submission made by the Crown 

on proposal 14 to the Christchurch Replacement District Plan and the 

specific interventions introduced, the Operative District Plan through 30 

the Land Use Recovery Plan, to assist in facilitating housing choice and 

supply. 

 

  [9.50 am] 

 35 

 In support of that submission, I explain the intention of those housing 

interventions, I describe the factors taken into account in developing 

them, explain how they fit within the context of proposal 14 and also 

the need for their inclusion in proposal 14 to support earthquake 

recovery. 40 

 

 These interventions originated through the statutory directions from the 

Minister for Canterbury Earthquake Recovery under the Christchurch 

City Plan and as included in appendix 2 to the LURP. 

 45 
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 While I consider the immediate housing interventions as introduced 

through the LURP to be generally directed to the appropriate outcomes 

and informed by the higher order planning documents, I acknowledge 

and agree with the evidence of Mr Dale and Ms McIntyre supporting 

some minor wording modifications.  5 

 

 In my opinion such modifications are consistent with the original intent 

of the LURP, as well as schedule 4 to the Canterbury Earthquake 

Christchurch Replacement District Plan Order 2014, and the decision 

of the Hearings Panel on strategic directions and strategic outcomes, 10 

and relevant definitions, particularly objectives 3.3.1, 3.3.2 and 3.3.4. 

 

 To achieve consistency with the LURP, it is my opinion that the 

immediate interventions outlined in my evidence should be included in 

the proposal. I recognise and accept that does not mean those 15 

provisions as directed to be included or amended in the Operative 

District Plan must remain unchanged. 

 

 It is, however, important in my view that the original intention and 

purpose remains, and that the anticipated outcomes are able to be 20 

achieved. I urge particular caution if the opportunities afforded through 

those mechanisms are to be constrained.  

 

 Accepting that some change could occur, and as an overall conclusion, 

in my opinion the package of immediate intervention in proposal 14, 25 

(a) provides the opportunity for higher density housing by enabling 

intensification in appropriate locations, secondly, reduces the 

likelihood of the opportunities for comprehensive development on 

eligible sites would be lost by providing an immediate opportunity, 

they support a compact urban form that is consistent with the RPS 30 

approach to growth management, improve the likelihood of meeting the 

intensification targets of the LURP and the order, provide potential 

relief in the housing market leading to greater choice, availability and 

affordability, and appropriately protect attributes valued by the 

residential community within existing suburban areas. 35 

 

 It is also my opinion that the immediate housing interventions should 

be supported by other ways of achieving appropriate intensification 

through the replacement plan process in support of improved housing 

availability and choice. The immediate interventions work was never 40 

thought to be all that was required to achieve the LURP outcomes with 

respect to housing intensification and choice, and action 2 of the LURP 

envisages more to be achieved in that regard through the review of the 

district plan. 

 45 
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 That is consistent with meeting the community’s immediate and longer 

term needs for housing in accordance with objectives 3.3.1 and 3.3.4 of 

the Strategic Directions Decision. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. Now, Ms Appleyard was listed as down for cross-5 

examination, I presume that is withdrawn.  Has she withdrawn all of 

hers?  Dr Mitchell? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir. Good morning Mr Gimblett.  In terms of the 

enhanced development mechanism, to what extent has that been 10 

utilised to date and with what level of success? 

 

MR GIMBLETT:   I have tried to – in preparing my evidence I have asked 

some questions, particularly of people like Mr Blair who might have 

had more exposure to that through the Council process than I, and I 15 

understand there has been enquiry about it, but I am not aware of any 

specific use of that mechanism, or he was not in his conversation with 

me. 

 

 Now, that was a month or so ago, I have not had an updated 20 

conversation since then, but I am not aware.  I have understood there to 

be some other use of some of the other interventions, but I am not 

aware of that specific one.  

 

DR MITCHELL:   Just taking that a step further, what is it about the provisions 25 

as drafted that enhance – what is the enhanced mechanism that it is 

actually setting out to achieve and what is it that it is, if you like, 

circumventing or facilitating that otherwise would not happen through 

the zoning, because it is not clear to me? 

 30 

MR GIMBLETT:   Yes, I had the advantage of hearing that question of 

Mr Blair yesterday. So there are really three areas where it offers an 

enhanced opportunity. The first is around density, particularly bearing 

in mind that it applies over what was previously the living 2, or 

currently the living 2, living 3. The main enhancement frankly applies 35 

to the living 2 component. There is greater uplift, if you like, for 

example, around density in the living 2, given the distinction between 

the density allowed normally under that zone versus the living 3. So 

there is some yield advantage, if you like, in the range that’s provided 

for through that mechanism, relative to development that would occur 40 

under that zone in terms of minimum lot size, so that is one inherent 

advantage. 
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  [9.55 am] 

 

 The second relates to some of the bulk and location standards, and 

deliberately so, when that mechanism was conceived and was 

considered, we took the opportunity to look at the bulk and location 5 

standards that would apply, and that method is relative to again what 

would apply under the standard zonings.  And a couple of examples, 

one is height, for example, in the living 2 zone you are bound by a 

maximum height of eight metres.  Under the EDM you have the ability 

to transition with space from your boundary to an 11 metre height, so 10 

there are some increased possibilities there. 

 

 There are others, there is some design freedom built in by the absence 

of rules. For example, rules existing under the underlying zones around 

continuous building length, they do not apply.  Outdoor living space is 15 

another where there are some concessions, if you like, to how that 

particular amenity aspect is provided for, so that is the second package, 

if you like, as part of the enhancement. 

 

 The third, and perhaps most significant in respect, particularly of the 20 

living 3 zone, is the process advantage around non-notification of 

resource consents associated with the use of the mechanism, and that is 

on two fronts. The mechanism requires a restricted discretionary 

activity application, if you meet all the development standards you are 

still subject to a consideration against urban design parameters.  25 

 

 If you do not meet one or the other of the development standards, and I 

am saying this on the basis of meeting the qualifying criteria, you are 

also under resource consent process for restricted discretionary activity, 

both of those processes prescribe non-notification.  Now that is not the 30 

situation under the underlying zone provisions if you were to breach 

one or other of those standards. 

 

 So inherent within the mechanism effectively are three areas of 

potential advantage. Now, the applicant could still choose to use the 35 

underlying zone provisions, that is quite the case, depending on how 

they wish to proceed and what the particular proposal is, but there are 

intentional concessions or advantages built in to the mechanisms in 

those three key areas.  

 40 

DR MITCHELL:   Right, thank you.  That is very helpful.  I might, I mean the 

plan itself, the drafting has been evolutionary as we have gone through 

the process, did I understand the answer to say, that an RDA in the 

EDM – sorry, restricted discretionary activity where the floating zone, 

EDM applies, is still subject to the urban design principles?  Because 45 

the way it is drafted I don’t think it is.  



 Page 326 

  

Ch14: Residential (Part) Commenced 31.03.15 

 

MR GIMBLETT:   Okay. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Or the intention is, there is a separate set of criteria but they 

are not the urban design principles criteria as I read it, now I may have 5 

that wrong. 

 

MR GIMBLETT:   Well, through the evolution, if you like, of the EDM we 

were looking at design related assessment matters. 

 10 

DR MITCHELL:   Yes. 

 

MR GIMBLETT:   Concurrent with that we knew that the district plan 

emerging was also looking at some of those things to apply in different 

circumstances.  Thirdly we were also, and I personally was involved at 15 

that stage of some drafting around the central city residential 

provisions.  Mr Walsh gave some description of that yesterday.  In the 

midst of all of that activity, of concern to us, those of us involved in the 

EDM, was trying to reconcile how those various provisions separately 

and independently seeking to address matters of urban design might 20 

ultimately play out. 

 

 Now, I would be the first to concede they may not have landed in the 

process where we are at now in a consistent fashion, but that was our 

intention, was to try and look to ways in which there could be some 25 

utility across all of those provisions for the various parts of the plan 

that we were contemplating. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right.  That is helpful, thank you.  One of the things that 

– again, it is a matter of drafting I think – because this is a floating zone 30 

as you have described it and others have described it, it does not change 

the underlying zoning within which an activity is proposed. 

 

MR GIMBLETT:   That is correct. 

 35 

DR MITCHELL:   It would be appropriate, would it not, in section 4.7 where 

the EDM rules are there to actually make it explicit that the rules for 

the underlying zoning are specifically superseded? 

 

MR GIMBLETT:   Again, you raised that same point with Mr Blair, and I 40 

agree, I found myself agreeing with you as I sat in the room.  That was 

always the intention, if it’s not explicit it could be - - - 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right.  No, that is fine.  Just I think the final but one, the 

expiry date on this mechanism and the community housing 45 

redevelopment mechanism are consistent with what the LURP says, do 
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you think there is any advantage in extending the timeframe within 

which these mechanisms might be able to be uplifted? 

 

  [10.00 am] 

 5 

MR GIMBLETT:   Yes, I do. I do now, and I say so in my evidence, I talk 

about the possibility of those provisions actually not applying.  I don’t 

think I talk specifically about an extension per se but I talk about 

whether they could be removed.  And I am more inclined to that than I 

was at the time that they were first conceived and partly there are 10 

slightly different motives, if you like, behind that time limit depending 

on the particular mechanism. In the instance of the Community 

Housing Redevelopment Mechanism, and I think I say that in my 

evidence, that was more motivated by incentivising early response. 

 15 

 In the case of the EDM that was partly at least to do with our 

uncertainty around how that mechanism might actually be used and 

apply.  Bearing in mind also that it afforded potentially a greater 

opportunity across greater areas of suburban Christchurch.   

 20 

 Another element around the EDM that we were unsure of at the time of 

its development was how much land could or potentially still become 

vacant, if you like eligible, because of the early stage in the process of 

reviewing a lot of properties relative to damage and insurance claims.  

So there was some uncertainty leading to that. 25 

 

 Now, with the passage of time some of that is a little clearer.  The other 

aspect is with the process that we are currently in the opportunity for 

public scrutiny of those provisions and reaction and response to them is 

something that we have advantage now that we didn’t when we put 30 

them in place through the LURP process. 

 

DR MITCHELL: Just, finally, there has been a considerable amount of 

questioning from various members of the Panel about activity status 

and in particular the enhanced use of controlled activities.  Do you 35 

think that if one was looking at those enhanced development 

mechanisms greater use of a controlled activity status might be 

appropriate? 

 

MR GIMBLETT:   It is certainly something we turned our mind to at the time.  40 

The two reasons really I think from my memory as to why we didn’t 

necessarily pursue that, one was we were conscious of trying to fit 

these mechanisms within the construct of the operative plan, which 

perhaps you will appreciate doesn’t utilise that particular status, that 

tier of opportunity widely. 45 
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 Secondly, there is some subjectivity, and I think Mr Blair answered this 

in response to a similar question again yesterday, subjectivity around 

what was to be assessed in some of these areas and the challenge often 

is trying to get that built into a controlled activity mechanism. 

 5 

DR MITCHELL:  That was your thinking then, what is your thinking now? 

 

MR GIMBLETT:  I am less troubled by the structural aspect in the first 

instance, I think that is something that with some time and some care in 

terms of how these things pan out I think there is greater opportunity 10 

there.  With time again to take a more considered approach, we were 

under some pressure to do this in a very tight timeframe, and to get the 

controlled activity approach working effectively would have, I think, 

required more analysis, time and energy than we actually had at that 

time.  I think that is possible now.   15 

 

 I think if I was charged with going away and looking at it again I could 

convince myself that there are some opportunities there.  Whether it is 

comprehensively so across all of those provisions I would have my 

doubts about that but there may well be some opportunity within it. 20 

 

DR MITCHELL:  So that would mean in practical terms, when this mechanism 

was being used in accordance with the criteria that needed to be 

satisfied in order to do it, it is conceivable that you want to decline a 

consent application?  That is the only reason that you would want to 25 

have an RDA, isn’t it? 

 

MR GIMBLETT:   That is correct. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   That would be the only factual reason or substantive reason 30 

why you wouldn’t change the activity status? 

 

MR GIMBLETT:  There is that reason and also the specific nature of where 

you have reserved your discretion so, if you like, practical.  

 35 

DR MITCHELL:   Why is that any different from having a matter over which 

you have reserved discretion versus a matter over which control is 

reserved, I don’t understand the distinction? 

 

MR GIMBLETT:   It is not fundamentally different, the issue is simply, as you 40 

stated, around the ability to decline the consent. 

 

DR MITCHELL:  Is that a realistic prospect and doesn’t that mean that the 

mechanism is not adequately drafted if you can really say, “Here is a 

mechanism that is meant to facilitate something, oh, and by the way it 45 
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doesn’t work so we will turn it down”?  That seems to me to be 

oxymoronic. 

 

MR GIMBLETT:   I totally agree.  I totally agree I think it comes down to how 

the mechanism is drafted. That is a skill, that requires care and 5 

attention. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, okay. 

 

MR GIMBLETT:  That is my point. I don’t it is an impossibility by any means. 10 

 

DR MITCHELL:   I understand.  I just wonder whether that might be one of 

the reasons why it hasn’t been uplifted, I am just observing, because 

people don’t really see the advantages of it and it is not obvious what 

the advantage of it truly is? 15 

 

MR GIMBLETT:  It could be. One element, and I am speculating, one element 

I have wondered about is whether the site size limit is too demanding, 

the minimum site size, that is something we turned our mind to at the 

time, in terms of balancing getting a realistic comprehensive 20 

opportunity maybe that is a possibility. 

 

  [10.05 am] 

 

DR MITCHELL:  Thank you, Mr Gimblett, that is helpful.  Thank you, sir. 25 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Mr Gimblett, on the same mechanism for EDM.  

I am interested in your opinion about whether it could be usefully 30 

applied within the RS zone? 

 

MR GIMBLETT:   So in terms of the lower suburban density, are now 

equivalent - - - 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   Which is the bulk of the city of course? 

 

MR GIMBLETT:   We certainly turned our mind to that at the time in thinking 

about what zones should be eligible. At the time, our concern or 

uncertainty I guess, that directed us to not enabling it in the living home 40 

zone was really around the uncertainty, as I said, around how much 

take-up, how much change potentially could occur in that very 

established residential area of the city. 

 

 And the contrast that might arise with the expectations of amenity and 45 

character existing in those developed areas. 
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 So there was some reticence in terms of applying it more broadly at 

that stage for those reasons.  Now some of that has not changed, the 

character, established character and expectations of amenity in the 

residential suburban zone, the living 1 zone equivalent, has not 5 

changed, that is the same. 

 

 So there is an element of uncertainty as to how that would compare, 

how that would relate and affect the expectations of amenity and so 

forth in that zone. 10 

 

 The element that we have not the advantage of, is the possibility of 

understanding community reaction to that mechanism in the zones that 

it does apply, but of course it has not been notified on the basis of it 

applying to a suburban zone and I am still unclear as to what response 15 

might have been elicited from the community if it was, so that doubt 

remains, or that uncertainty remains. 

 

 The other, and it was based on some pretty crude analysis granted at the 

time, was how much of that zone would actually qualify based on the 20 

criteria themselves.  In other words, how much opportunity would be 

realistically created if we were to open it up for that very expansive 

area of the city, given the necessity to meet the various proximity 

criteria and so forth. 

 25 

 We did not have the advantage of very sophisticated models that would 

be necessary to apply the mechanism now, for example, around 

calculating walking distance and so forth, but we did do some broad 

GIS based analysis which suggested large areas of that residential area 

would not qualify.  Well, it would not qualify what existed at the time.  30 

They could in the future if some of those (INDISTINCT 2.39) services 

or facilities were to emerge and bring into play the opportunity to meet 

them based on proximity. 

 

 So those are the reasons. 35 

 

MS DAWSON:   The other change that we are faced with is a different set of 

expectations, strategic directions and imperatives under this Plan, that 

were not there under the Operative Plan that you are changing through 

the LURP. 40 

 

 Do you think that influences your perspective as to whether or not this 

opportunity for intensification and for having more houses, might be 

more suitable across the (INDISTINCT 3.20)? 

 45 
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MR GIMBLETT:   Yes, it does, I think it is worthy of reassessment in the light 

of that, I think it is worthy of reassessment in the light of some of the 

other things that are emerging around the realistic possibility of 

utilising that sort of mechanism and other interventions that were not 

necessarily apparent to us at the time that we devised them. 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, and my other question is around the other 

mechanism, the CHRM.  It is not provided for in the density transition 

zone or the RDM zone and I think I have seen someone has indicated 

that that is because the EDM is available in those zones, but that would 10 

not be the case once the EDM expires, or if it is allowed to expire. 

 

MR GIMBLETT:   Correct, that is right, it is a limited opportunity.   

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes. 15 

 

MR GIMBLETT:   I think that is a valid point that there is the opportunity 

afforded by them at least whilst it is available. 

 

MS DAWSON:   But if the EDM expired and was not continued through this 20 

Plan, do you think it would be a useful intensification opportunity in 

terms of the different parameters for the CHRM to look to identify 

areas in those other zones in the future? 

 

MR GIMBLETT:   Yes, I do with one proviso.  The CHRM was deliberately 25 

targeted at social community housing and was orientated around where 

those houses were currently clustered, and so the 10 areas that were 

ultimately identified were very much informed by where those houses 

presently existed or then existed.  And if we look now at, for example, 

the stock of Housing New Zealand properties that fall within and 30 

beyond, there are certainly a number of community housing, some of 

them clustered outside of those identified areas. 

 

  [10.10 am] 

 35 

 So yes, there is potential, I would suggest, to enable the CHRM to 

expand further and not necessarily lose site of the primary objective 

around a living on community and social housing.  And particularly if 

you look at the loss of the EDM as a mechanism, which of course 

Housing New Zealand or others can utilise outside of there.  40 

 

MS DAWSON:   Are there areas of clusters of Housing New Zealand or other 

social housing, that now fall within those other zones, not the RS zone? 

 

MR GIMBLETT:   There are to some degree – yes, there are, I have not got the 45 

map in front of me but my memory if I am looking at how they sat 
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relative to where the zone provisions were, there were certainly some 

of those opportunities.  But equally there are Housing New Zealand 

stock that are dispersed beyond those as well. 

 

MS DAWSON:   And beyond the currently identified CHRM? 5 

 

MR GIMBLETT:   Correct, and that is just Housing New Zealand stock I am 

referring to, the mechanism of course is available to other housing 

providers as well if they qualify, and I have not mapped the stock of 

that, we have not built the stock of that housing. 10 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, thank you, thank you Mr Gimblett. 

 

SJH: Thank you, Mr Sax. 

 15 

MR SAX:   Yes, thank you.  Mr Gimblett, we have heard a range of controls on 

intensity from Council submissions and from Mr Blair yesterday, we 

heard that he would perhaps favour more consolidation and for 

intensification on aggregated sites. 

 20 

 In your view, what would be the appropriate size or minimum size for a 

more comprehensive development and what would the controls be that 

you would want to impose on that, is it a hectare, is it two hectares 

et cetera? 

 25 

MR GIMBLETT:   If you look at the mechanisms that I discuss in my 

evidence, they were directed to comprehensive redevelopment.  I am 

thinking about the EDM and CHRM in particular by setting aside the 

single site or individual like sites.  So those two (INDISTINCT 2.07) 

particularly were directed at comprehensive redevelopment 30 

opportunity. 

 

 And I mentioned earlier about the site size qualifier, for example, under 

1,500 square metres and a limit of a hectare, and to be frank, the 1,500 

square metres was largely a guess, an informed guess, as to what we 35 

think might give you sufficient opportunity to realise reasonable 

comprehensive development opportunity, make it attractive to do so 

and enable us to build a package of mechanisms that saw that able to be 

realised without being too restraining. 

 40 

 And so land area, when conceiving of that package of mechanism, a 

certain amount of land was necessary in order to make that a reality.  

Now we landed on 1,500 square metres and I am happy to accept that 

that may or may not, in answer to the earlier question, that may meet 

with some market resistance around the EDM’s use. 45 

 



 Page 333 

  

Ch14: Residential (Part) Commenced 31.03.15 

 But that was the intention, so that is the 1,500 square metre.  Now if 

you ask me is comprehensive development possible in a site size below 

that, I would answer yes, I think it is possible.  The challenge becomes 

how you achieve the efficiencies inherent in comprehensive 

development whilst ensuring the relative matters around amenity and 5 

so forth are adequately safeguarded, particularly at the interface with 

adjoining land. 

 

 So there is a tension, inherent tension, in realising those two outcomes.  

Whether 1,500 square metres is necessary, I would accept that it may 10 

not be, that is the number we landed for those. 

 

MR SAX:   So in terms of the sort of controls, are the principally height to 

boundary, we did have submissions on the width of garages, the heights 

of fences and glass and so on, would you agree or disagree with that 15 

degree of control? 

 

MR GIMBLETT:   In my view, they are not as fundamental to realising the 

comprehensive outcome, the fundamental matters are around density 

and interface at the margins and the margins of the land with adjoining 20 

land and that is setbacks, height to boundaries.   

 

 Internalised controls around internal amenity and operational efficiency 

within the site, I think are less critical. 

 25 

MR SAX:   Right, you may have told me a little on this, or it may well be in 

the District Plan or draft already, but do we have a problem with 

fighting against historical protection, you talked about protecting 

existing suburban areas, and I presume this means character places, 

great historical, large sides, trees et cetera.  30 

 

 So what degree of tension would exist re historical protection or is that 

not an issue? 

 

MR GIMBLETT:   The historical protection as you put it, the character I am 35 

talking about is the level of expectation that is built up and developed 

and enshrined over time in a low density suburban zone, and that is not 

necessarily always reflected in the level of built development, but it 

may be inherent in the minds of people that live there and aspire to 

what they may do and what others might do around them. 40 

 

  [10.15 am] 

 

 So it is a level of expectation I suppose around an expected outcome.  

Now, the uncertainties and nervousness we had around introducing 45 

these particular mechanisms in the context of those sort of 
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environments was how acceptable would that degree of change be 

given that, through the LURP process, these were being imposed on the 

community without any opportunity to comment on them. 

 

 A slightly different process here where you have the ability for people 5 

to consider and submit but that was the context we were operating in.  

The protection largely then falls at the interface.  If the site is large 

enough the contrast or conflict with expectation internalised within the 

site is perhaps less of an issue than what it might be at the immediate 

interface of that comprehensive site development with the low density 10 

character immediately across the boundary fence. 

 

 And so that is why I said earlier around the criticalness of the interface 

controls being really important in my view as to the success of how that 

integration works. 15 

 

MR SAX:   Thank you, no further questions. 

 

SJH:   Judge? 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Chairman.  Mr Gimblett, I am going to ask 

you some questions on the basis of stretching you beyond the theory of 

your evidence, and it is fair to say that if you don’t feel comfortable 

answering them then you can indicate that to me. 

 25 

 And first of all to do that I need to test you on your CV just a little bit 

further because obviously your CV is attuned to the theory of your 

evidence. Am I right to understand that you, in your professional 

capacity, have been involved in training other professionals in how to 

make decisions under the Resource Management Act? 30 

 

MR GIMBLETT: That is correct, I am one of the presenters on the 

accreditation course for decision makers across New Zealand.  I have 

been since its inception in 2005. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN: Yes, and does your experience also extend to being 

involved in the development of plans? 

 

MR GIMBLETT:   In the development of? 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   In the formulation of plans? 

 

MR GIMBLETT:   Yes, it does, I have had years of involvement in that. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I want to talk to you about the topic of urban design.  Am 45 

I right to understand that the application of urban design as a discipline 
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is being tested in this plan in terms of its extension beyond the central 

area into the residential area in the sense that it is opening up 

something that wasn’t in the previous plan? 

 

MR GIMBLETT:  It is opening up a greater opportunity or requirement for that 5 

to feature in decision making.  There was urban design consideration in 

some of the zones under the operative plan provisions so it is not 

unique to the plan in the sense of being never been existing.  So we 

have had urban design considered in some of the higher density 

residential zones, for example, under the operative plan but the 10 

extension of the principle of considering urban design in terms of 

overall development is extended through this plan certainly. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:  Thank you.  Now, without disparaging the profession of 

architecture versus the profession of planning, in terms of training 15 

professionals to understand how to work within the RMA, am I right to 

understand that an architectural professional starts with their 

professional training as their paradigm?  Perhaps a bit more clearly, 

when dealing with professionals in that area and training them into 

resource management decision making, do they have the understanding 20 

a planner has to the role of direction through policies in a plan? 

 

MR GIMBLETT:   If I am to answer, that it is a very generic statement. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN: Yes, well, I understand that, I will reframe it.  I am 25 

concerned about the question of undue discretion and uncertainty and I 

am looking, for instance, to frame this more clearly. The current criteria 

or guidance criteria in the plan refer to words like anticipated for the 

surrounding environment in terms of character, natural and heritage and 

cultural features.  Am I right to understand that a planner would be 30 

trained to test what is anticipated by reference to the framework of the 

plan? 

 

MR GIMBLETT:   That is correct. 

 35 

JUDGE HASSAN:   To what extent do you think it is important, if we have a 

professional such as an architect making judgements on these matters, 

to have clear policy direction in the plan on what is expected/ 

 

MR GIMBLETT:  Well, I think it is important irrespective of who is making 40 

the decision.  I think it is perhaps more so if those that are less skilled, 

capable, experienced or trained in making those judgements around a 

policy context are involved in that decision making process.  So the 

answer to your question is yes. 

45 
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  [10.20 am] 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And do you have any basis to comment on the availability 

of suitable urban design resource in a professional sense in 

Christchurch as of now in terms of people that have the requisites given 5 

understanding of policy issues, is it a limited resource, a very confined 

resource, or an ample resource? 

 

MR GIMBLETT:   Based on my experience and understanding, it is a limited 

resource, it certainly is not ample.  I can say in the process of our work 10 

involved around the LURP development of these mechanisms, we 

sought urban design advice from consultants based in Auckland. We 

drew on urban design advice from within our own organisation 

although there was some sensitives around the degree which we could 

do that given the work that they were involved with but that is where 15 

we went to obtain that advice.   

 

 Having said that, that is not available in Christchurch or could not be 

available, but it is not extensively available is how I would describe 

that.  If you are talking about urban designed trained and qualified 20 

urban designers, you used the term architects earlier on talking about 

urban designers in answering that question. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, who may be planners - - - 

 25 

MR GIMBLETT:   There are plenty of architects. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, no, thank you very much. 

 

SJH:   Mr Radich, anything arising? 30 

 

MR RADICH:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, you may stand down. 

 35 

MR GIMBLETT:   Thank you. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [10.21 am] 

 

SJH:   Yes, Mr Radich. 40 

 

MR RADICH:   Yes, sir, I call Mr Mitchell. 

 

<IAN ERIC MITCHELL, affirmed  [10.21 am] 

45 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR RADICH [10.22 am] 

 

MR RADICH:   Your full name is Ian Eric Mitchell? 

 

MR MITCHELL:   Yes. 5 

 

MR RADICH:   And you are a director of Livingston and Associates? 

 

MR MITCHELL:   Yes. 

 10 

MR RADICH:   And you have prepared a statement of evidence dated 20 

March 2015? 

 

MR MITCHELL:   Yes. 

 15 

MR RADICH:   Are there any amendments you would like to make to the 

wording of that statement? 

 

MR MITCHELL:   No. 

 20 

MR RADICH:   And you confirm it to the best of your knowledge to be true 

and correct? 

 

MR MITCHELL:   Yes. 

 25 

MR RADICH:   Please, would you now provide a summary of your evidence 

to the Panel. 

 

MR MITCHELL:   I have been engaged by the Crown to provide evidence in 

relation to the impact of the earthquakes on the housing market and the 30 

recovery of the housing market in Christchurch.  My brief of evidence 

draws on my previous statement of evidence presented to the Panel in 

November 2014. The number of households in Christchurch is 

projected to increase by approximately 23,700 between 2012 and 2028.   

 35 

 Christchurch City’s population is aging and 84 percent of all growth 

will be in households aged 65 years and older.  Homeownership rates 

are also projected to continue to decline.  As a consequence, renter 

households are projected to account for 53 percent of the total growth 

in Christchurch City. If these demographic trends are reflected in 40 

housing choices, there will be a trend towards smaller dwellings with 

fewer bedrooms and an increased proportion of multi-unit dwellings.   

 

 I note that in James Fairgray’s rebuttal evidence, paragraphs 4.3 to 4.6, 

he estimates 70 percent of a net growth will be in owner occupied 45 

households rather than renters.  His analysis includes a number of 
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assumptions that are different from my analysis.  For example, he 

assumes homeownership rates will fall at different stages of household 

cycles remain constant at 2013 levels up to 2028.  As a result, he has 

not taken into account the ongoing structural decline in home 

ownership rates that has been occurring with each successive age 5 

cohort evident over the last two decades. As a result, he has 

significantly over estimated that the future proportion of owner 

occupied households.   

 

  [10.25 am] 10 

 

 The 2013 census results indicate Christchurch homeownership rate was 

64.8 percent in 2013.  Consequently, if 70 percent of a net growth is in 

owner occupied households, the level of homeownership will increase 

for the first time in over two decades.  This is very unlikely in an 15 

environment where housing and affordability has continued to 

deteriorate and successive age cohorts have lower homeownership rates 

than previous generations. In paragraph 3.9 of his rebuttal he also 

appears to have assumed the proportion of multi-unit dwellings 

developed is the same as the level of intensification within the existing 20 

urban area.  

 

 Intensification and the proportion of multi-unit dwellings developed 

within Christchurch city is not the same thing.  Intensification of the 

existing urban area can be the result of the construction of multiple 25 

dwelling typologies, only one of which is multi-unit dwellings.  Multi-

unit dwellings can be developed both within the existing urban area and 

in greenfield locations.  

 

 The increase in supply required to meet the growth and demand is 30 

likely to come from greenfield developments and dwellings built from 

within the existing urban area. There is no definitive intensification 

target provided the Christchurch city. The intensification targets as 

discussed in my evidence range from 13,500 dwellings to 18,700. 

Estimates of the Replacement Plan enabled development capacity for 35 

Christchurch city ranges from 13,300 dwellings to 19,800.  

Consequently, while under some scenarios there is sufficient capacity, 

and under other combinations of supply and demand there is not.  

 

 Importantly, these estimates all assume all the sites identified are 40 

available and developed. A number of factors may affect this 

assumption and further reduce capacity available for development. 

First, current owners may have no intention of selling and, if they do 

sell, there is no guarantee the property will be sold to a developer.  

 45 
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 Secondly, the development economics, as identified in Mr Schelleken’s 

evidence may limit the number of developers in the market. For 

example, of all the sites identified as having development capacity in 

the RMD and the RSDT zones sold and only half the sales went to 

developers, the effective plan enabled capacity would reduce to 5 

between 9,600 and 15,000 dwellings. 

 

 In order to ensure adequate development capacity, the Council may 

need to significantly increase the plan enabled development capacity in 

the Replacement Plan within the existing urban area and ensure that the 10 

capacity is located in locations where developers can profitably 

redevelop the sites, rather than just providing enough capacity.  

 

 To increase the chance of achieving the desired levels of 

intensification, the Council should also increase plan enabled capacity, 15 

rationalise rules and regulations, ensuring their benefits exceed their 

costs and effectively administer the consenting process, regularly 

monitor development capacity with the goal of always maintaining the 

equivalent of more than 15 years’ worth of demand. 

 20 

 Ideally, ensuring 20 years’ worth of demand equivalent allows the 

Council time to react and allocate additional capacity to ensure a 15 

year minimum is always maintained. 

 

 Over a twenty year time horizon an additional 5,900 dwellings will be 25 

required, over and above the 23,700 dwellings envisaged between 2012 

and 2018. A total of 4,200 of these will need to be built within the 

existing urban area if the 80 percent intensification target is met.  Doug 

Fairgray suggests in paragraph 4.9 of his rebuttal evidence, there is 

sufficient capacity already allocated within the existing urban area to 30 

meet this additional demand.  

 

 To meet these targets, once an allowance has been made for infill and 

buyer dwelling development activity, somewhere between 53 percent 

and 76 percent of the total theoretical development capacity of the 35 

RMD and the RSDT zones would have needed to be developed.  This is 

unlikely for a number of reasons, including physical attributes of some 

of the sites, the economic feasibility to redevelop and existing owners 

may or may not sell their properties and, if they do, they may not sell 

them to a developer. 40 

 

 Consequently, in my opinion, over a 20 year time horizon, there is 

insufficient Replacement Plan enabled development capacity within the 

existing urban area. 

45 
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  [10.30 am] 

 

 The Council undertook a structure process to assess the areas it 

considered appropriate for rezoning for more intensive developments. 

Although there is logic to this approach, in order to achieve its 5 

intensification targets, the Council may have to increase the areas 

encompassed by the RMD and the RSDT zones and relax some of the 

rules and regulations governing the redevelopment of these sites. 

 

 In particular, the Council should consider areas with high property and 10 

high amenity values, locations with high property and amenity values 

are likely to improve the development economics of the sites and have 

a positive impact on the effective Replacement Plan enabled 

development capacity. 

 15 

 Council appears to have excluded suburbs with the highest residential 

values from intensification. In my opinion, the Council should 

reinvestigate whether it can include such areas in the RMD zone and 

whether they can mitigate their concerns which lead to the exclusion of 

such suburbs.  It is in these high value suburbs where developers are 20 

most likely to be able to profitably redevelop the sites. 

 

 Developers are rational profit driven organisations, they will migrate to 

areas which offer profitable development opportunities and where the 

risks are manageable. Unless the Council engages with the private 25 

sector and ensures there is more than a minimal amount of 

development capacity, and that the rules and regulations imposed on 

the sector are not overly prescriptive they will not achieve the desired 

levels of intensification. 

 30 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT [10.31 am] 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Ms Scott. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, Mr Mitchell. I just want to ask you some questions 35 

around your evidence that there is a need to provide headroom in terms 

of future rezoning as such to ensure sufficient supply rather than there 

being just enough capacity. 

 

 That opinion is based on your first statement of evidence from the 40 

Strategic Directions hearing and the demographic evidence in both that 

statement and your current one, and I take it that you rely on Mr 

Schellekens evidence in terms of his modelling work to come to that 

final conclusion? 

 45 

MR MITCHELL:   Yes, that is correct. 
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MS SCOTT:   And you have explained in your summary as well this morning, 

that you see it as a need to consult further with the development 

community and the landowners in those additional areas before taking 

that rezoning step, do you agree with that? 5 

 

MR MITCHELL:   I think I said consult with the developers rather than 

landowners per se, but yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, thank you. And in your evidence for the Strategic 10 

Directions chapter – and I do not need you to turn to it – but in it you 

talk there about the issues that kind of arise when, for example you 

have got an established residential area with an established community 

and you are seeking to insert into that area a higher density 

development or a different form of development, do you recall that? 15 

 

MR MITCHELL:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And in those circumstances is it your evidence that there can be 

some resistance or friction from the established residence to a new 20 

form of development or higher density development appearing in their 

midst? 

 

MR MITCHELL:   Yes, that is correct, and if I recall correctly, this was 

debated in the hearing and what I said was that, when you have a, I 25 

suppose a more densed development adjoining other properties there 

are some negative externalities that impact on those properties 

immediately adjacent to the development.  However, that needs to be 

balanced against the benefits to the greater community. 

 30 

 And one of the issues is, is the benefits to the greater community is 

spread over a large number of households, so the individual gain per 

household is not very great, but the negative impacts are spread over a 

very small number of households so they tend to be much more vocal 

than the wider community who benefits from the increase in supply and 35 

it really comes down to a leadership role for Christchurch City to really 

to, if they want intensification to occur to set that clear strategic 

direction within those high density zones. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, thank you, so it is about striking the appropriate balance 40 

and finding where that is? 

 

MR MITCHELL:   That is correct. 
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MS SCOTT:   You will be familiar with the joint evidence that Mr Teesdale 

provided for the Council and the Crown about the urban form criteria 

that is appropriate for any additional RMD zoning? 

 

MR MITCHELL:   Yes, I have read many pieces of evidence over the last 5 

month, but yes, I have read his evidence, yes. 

 

  [10.35 am] 

 

MS SCOTT:   And have you seen the policy that Ms McIntyre has 10 

recommended be inserted into the chapter in response to that evidence 

of Mr Teesdale? 

 

MR MITCHELL:   I am sorry I cannot recall that individual paragraph.   

 15 

MS SCOTT:   Would we be able to pull up policy 14.1.1.1A, that is on page 7 

of the Revised Chapter, please.   

 

 So Mr Mitchell, this policy sets out the agreed, the urban form criteria, 

and it talks there about – I will just give you a moment to read it. 20 

 

MR MITCHELL:   Sure.  Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, so you see that that talks about appropriate locations where 

intensification is essentially surrounding a centre, so a key activity 25 

centre or a larger suburban centre, and the purpose of that is to ensure 

that the directions from the Regional Policy Statement are met in terms 

of locating that intensification.  Do you agree with that? 

 

MR MITCHELL:   Sorry, can you just rephrase that question? 30 

 

MS SCOTT:   Would you agree that this policy and the criteria set out within 

it, they establish locations, the criteria where future RMD zones would 

be? 

 35 

MR MITCHELL:   Well that is the criteria that was used, yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, if you can turn to paragraph 4.4 of your evidence for this 

hearing, please. 

 40 

MR MITCHELL:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   You have your statement there, and I think you might have 

repeated it in your summary this morning, that “the Council may need 

to significantly increase the Plan to enable development capacity within 45 
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the existing area and ensure the capacity is allocated in locations where 

developers can profitably redevelop the sites.” 

 

MR MITCHELL:   Yes. 

 5 

MS SCOTT:   Does your statement fit easily with the evidence of Mr Teesdale 

and Ms McIntyre in that respect? 

 

MR MITCHELL:   Well no, it does not - - - 

 10 

SJH:   Or the question better, does it fit with policy? 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you, sir.  Does your statement fit with the policy that 

Ms McIntyre and Mr Teesdale have supported? 

 15 

MR MITCHELL:   Well in that context no, it does not, because I suppose I am 

looking at it from the point of view of if you actually want 

intensification to occur you have to ensure it is in locations where 

developers can make a profit.  So if the developers cannot make a profit 

they will not go there and they will not build anything.  So you can 20 

have all the RMD zone you want in locations spread across the city, but 

unless you put it in locations which can be profitably developed, 

nothing is going to happen. 

 

MS SCOTT:   I accept that is your evidence, sir, but the question is, how does 25 

your statement fit with the policy? 

 

SJH:   Well the witness answered “it didn’t.” 

 

MR MITCHELL:   Yes.  30 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, thank you.  If I could just move on.  In terms of some 

comments in your evidence about the monitoring of development 

capacity over the life of the Plan and beyond. 

 35 

MR MITCHELL:   Sure. 

 

MS SCOTT:   I take it that you endorse ongoing monitoring? 

 

MR MITCHELL:   Correct. 40 

 

MS SCOTT:   Which would ensure that additional capacity is added for as the 

market becomes ready for it? 

 

MR MITCHELL:   That is correct, yes. 45 
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MS SCOTT:   If you could turn to paragraph 6.5 of your evidence. 

 

MR MITCHELL:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   I am interested there in your views that the Replacement Plan 5 

should enable development capacity beyond its 10 year life, beyond the 

higher order direction to provide 23,700 dwellings by 2028.  Sorry, I 

will rephrase that.  In that paragraph there you have there that capacity 

should be provided out to 2035.  The District Plan has a lifespan of 10 

years, but of course the Council has been directed to provide 23,700 10 

dwellings by 2028.  In terms of your view to plan out to 2035, what is 

that based on? 

 

  [10.40 am] 

 15 

MR MITCHELL:   I did not say out to 2035, I said for 20 years, and that was a 

starting date effectively of 2012.  Now, I suppose where the 20 years 

comes from is based on some peer reviewed researches I did for 

Auckland Council about four years ago which included doing some 

international research on what typically are the jurisdictions around the 20 

world and how much development capacity do they include within the 

housing market to ensure it operates efficiently, and interestingly 

enough in preparing for this hearing yesterday I was reading through 

the 2011 Australian Productivity Commission Report on housing and 

they are now recommending 25 years’ worth of supply should be 25 

included within the existing urban area.  So it is all about ensuring there 

is enough capacity there so that the market can operate in an efficient 

way so as not to have an adverse impact on housing affordability.   

 

MS SCOTT:   In terms of the development capacity uptake at 2012 and moving 30 

through that period onwards, Dr Fairgray’s evidence yesterday, and I 

am asking whether you agree with him, was that capacity can be 

expected to increase through time as the economics of redevelopment 

progressively improves?   

 35 

MR MITCHELL:   Well housing markets typically go through cycles so the 

development economics do change over time, they can improve but 

they can also deteriorate.   

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, so in terms of Dr Fairgray’s evidence, that over time more 40 

land will become right for intensification, and his evidence was related 

to the value of properties will increase but the dwelling will decrease, 

does that influence your view? 

 

MR MITCHELL:   Sorry, could you just repeat that? 45 
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MS SCOTT:   So over time the land value will increase, but the dwelling itself 

will decrease? 

 

MR MITCHELL:   Well typically even if a value of the property remains 

static, the improvements are a depreciating part of the aspect.  Now if 5 

you looked at Christchurch City at the moment I would say, based on 

the research I did for the Ministry of Business Innovation and 

Employment in CERA two or three years ago, there is a significant risk 

that there will be a correction in house prices in Christchurch at some 

stage over the next five years.  So we might actually see those values 10 

go down rather than up and that would have a significant impact on the 

ability to develop. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, in terms of your comments about, it is in paragraph 6.23 

of your evidence, you comment there on the structured approach the 15 

Council took to considering what areas were appropriate for rezoning 

or not and as you have just said that the Council should consider 

including areas with high property and amenity values, am I correct in 

following what you have just said that there needs to be a focus on 

properties with high land value rather than high dwelling value? 20 

 

MR MITCHELL:   No, the focus should be more on the total value because 

again based on research I have done in an Auckland context which I 

completed for developers in Auckland, the locations where you can get 

successful intensification is where you can create a value gradient.  So 25 

the existing residents who are living in that suburb can sell their 

dwelling and buy a smaller more intense property for a new one for a 

slightly lower price, and so effectively they can release some capital 

and/or pay off their new smaller dwelling to fit in with the change in 

their life cycles. 30 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, and would you agree that the modelling that 

Mr Schellekens’ evidence is based on, so that is based on current land 

value ratios at this point in time? 

 35 

MR MITCHELL:   That is correct, yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And your evidence has been that they will change, do you agree 

that that needs to be a relevant factor in terms of development capacity 

uptake moving forward? 40 

 

MR MITCHELL:   Well I suppose movements and value will have an impact 

on whether or not developers take up the opportunity to redevelop in 

different locations.   

 45 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, okay, thank you, Mr Mitchell, no further questions. 
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SJH:   Thank you.  Dr Mitchell? 

 

  [10.45 am] 

 5 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir, good morning, Mr Mitchell, just a couple of 

questions. At paragraph 6.5 and you been asked some questions about 

this already this morning, you have essentially said that the ministerial 

direction dictates growth over 16 years and you want to expand that to 

20. 10 

 

MR MITCHELL:   Correct. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Mr Fairgray’s evidence was that the 16 year matter, eg the 

ministerial direction number of 23,700 new houses with that 15 

intensification component of that factored in, if we were to follow Mr 

Schellekens view, that would require four times the current area of 

medium density residential zoning, do you agree with that? 

 

 He is saying, to achieve Mr Schellekens target - - -  20 

 

MR MITCHELL:   Yes. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   - - - you would need to zone four times more land than is 

currently being proposed into the medium density residential zone, do 25 

you - - -  

 

MR MITCHELL:   I would say that you need more.  I cannot – I have not seen 

the “four times” before and the basis for that calculation so I cannot 

really agree or disagree with that. 30 

 

DR MITCHELL:   You would accept though that whatever that number - - -  

 

MR MITCHELL:   But you would need more, yes. 

 35 

DR MITCHELL:   You would agree whatever that number was that your 

figure, the planning for 20 years and you would pro-rata things would 

be 25 percent above whatever it was that Mr Schellekens had 

proposed? 

 40 

MR MITCHELL:   Correct.  Yes. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you. At paragraph 6.18, you make a 

reference to your table 2, and you have said at paragraph 6.18, “The 

estimated demand as set out in table 2”. 45 
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MR MITCHELL:   Yes. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Is that not the supply? 

 

MR MITCHELL:   Well the 23,700 dwellings is the estimated growth in 5 

supply to match the growth and demand, so it is a – in that context it is 

talking about the same thing. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   But it is the amount of capacity that is made available, it 

does not say anything about “demand”, does it?  It is simply about the 10 

amount of land that is available for that purpose.  It is quite possible 

that no one will want to utilise it, in which case the supply would be 

zero, or am I misunderstanding the use of the term “supply and 

demand”? 

 15 

MR MITCHELL:   Well in that context I think you probably are. We are 

talking about the growth in how much, what is demand and as a 

consequence how much does supply need to increase to match that 

growth and demand over time. 

 20 

DR MITCHELL:   Well it is to meet a target, is it not?  I mean the - - -  

 

MR MITCHELL:   Well it is a target, and that target is loose – well, appears to 

be based on the medium growth scenario in terms of the growth of a 

number of households expected in Christchurch from Statistics New 25 

Zealand. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, I understand your point. It may be a similar 

misunderstanding or use of language, but on page 11 of your evidence - 

- -  30 

 

MR MITCHELL:   Yes. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   - - - you refer to table 4 and you talk about development 

capacity to 2028, and the second to last line of that table talks about 35 

intensification of the RMD and the RSDT. The evidence of Mr 

Fairgray is that, that what you call there “intensification”, is essentially 

“redevelopment”, that is – I will start again - the figures that are in the 

table above that line are all about what you can fit on to existing 

properties, there is an existing house, you can infill a bit by putting a - - 40 

-  

 

MR MITCHELL:   Yes. 

 



 Page 348 

  

Ch14: Residential (Part) Commenced 31.03.15 

DR MITCHELL:   - - - second dwelling on it and so on and so forth, and the 

intensification number that is in that table is essentially a 

redevelopment. 

 

MR MITCHELL:   Correct, yes. 5 

 

DR MITCHELL:   His evidence is that, only about 10 percent of the potential 

redevelopment would be necessary in order for that number to be 

achieved, and yet, your table talks about a development capacity.  So is 

it correct to say that the development capacity is considerably greater 10 

than what is shown in your table? 

 

MR MITCHELL:   Well, if you look at table 3 immediately above that - - -  

 

DR MITCHELL:   Yes. 15 

 

MR MITCHELL:   - - - Christchurch City estimated the theoretical total 

capacity, if all the sites within those zones were redeveloped to those 

densities, either 40 dwellings per hectare or 13 dwellings per hectare, 

which gives a total plan enabled capacity 47,741 of which there is 20 

already 30,300 dwellings there, which gives a net difference of 17,365. 

 

  [10.50 am] 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Table 3 is a theoretical calculation based on an assumed 25 

desired density for the zone.  The intensification number is based on, as 

I understand it, an interrogation of the properties to say, this is how 

much land is here, this is the potential to amalgamate titles and so on 

and so forth, and the intensification number as a degree of reality 

associated with it, rather than a theoretical - - - 30 

 

MR MITCHELL:   I agree with that totally.  I must have misinterpreted your 

previous question- - -  

 

DR MITCHELL:   My understanding is that the intensification number in that 35 

table 4, in the second to last line - - - 

 

MR MITCHELL:   Yes. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   - - - is based on approximately 10 percent uptake of the 40 

redevelopment potential of the zones.  Do you agree with that? 

 

MR MITCHELL:   I think that that cannot be the case.  If the difference 

between, the net difference between the existing utilised capacity, ie, 

the 30,300 dwellings, and the total theoretical capacity is 47,000, 45 

giving you additional capacity you can utilise of 17,000, okay.  And 
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then if the intensification we are talking about at the highest end of the 

figures, 9,650, you are using over half of the net theoretical capacity 

that is remaining within those zones. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, I do not think I can take it any further.  There 5 

seems to be a difference of opinion, either in what has been said or in 

my understanding of what Dr Fairgray said, I cannot take this further. 

 

MR MITCHELL:   I suppose I am partly relying on Christchurch City 

Council’s estimate of what the theoretical capacity is on those zones, 10 

and I am assuming they calculated that correctly. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you.  Just a couple more questions.    

 

 You have said in your evidence and the report that you have appended 15 

goes into that in spades, about how over regulation has a very 

detrimental effect on intensification. 

 

 

 You have then gone on at paragraph 7.11, to list a couple of the 20 

provisions of the Proposed Plan that you think are deleterious to 

intensification and that is changing site coverage and the amount of 

landscape requirement and so forth. 

 

 Have you done any assessment of the quantum of effect that those 25 

specific provisions that you have listed there, would have?  

 

MR MITCHELL:   In the context of Christchurch, no. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Okay, thank you.  And just second to final question.   30 

 

 On the regulation front, what degree of effect do you think the use of 

subjective standards, in particular, urban design standards, have on 

market confidence in investing in intensified development? 

 35 

MR MITCHELL:   There are two aspects to that. There is actually the rules and 

regulations as to how they are written and how they are administered, 

so essentially, and from a developers point of view there are two ways 

of looking at it.  Increased subjectivity gives them some more 

flexibility, however, at the same time it increases uncertainty which is 40 

where the administration of those rules and how they are actually 

applied, become quite important. 

 

 So as you increase subjectivity you increase risk of uncertainty and 

then it comes back to how that is actually managed by the 45 

administering body. 
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DR MITCHELL:   And just finally, is not it a fact that there is a supply of 

greenfields land in Christchurch a real impediment to the 

intensification, because based on the current market, there is clear 

preference for greenfield sites as opposed to intensified sites. 5 

 

 So what is it that is going to change that dynamic and give people the 

confidence to want to be in an intensified area rather than a greenfields 

area? 

 10 

MR MITCHELL:   I suppose the existing issue – or the issue is that if, just to 

give you a broader answer, is that if you restricted the greenfield lands 

plan to drive intensification, you would have quite an adverse impact 

on housing affordability.  You then increase the land values within the 

city and you would slow down the growth and supply, and as a 15 

consequence, house prices would go up. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   And that is the Auckland model, is it not? 

 

  [10.55 am] 20 

 

MR MITCHELL:   And also in the context of somewhere like Christchurch 

City, if you did that within Christchurch City, you would also push the 

demand out in the Waimakariri and Selwyn districts quite strongly as 

well. 25 

 

 So what do you need to do to encourage intensification.  Well, as I have 

talked about in my evidence, you have got to make sure that you are 

providing the opportunity to intensify in places that people want to live 

and you are not creating a whole set of rules and regulations and 30 

administering them in such a way that it makes it difficult for 

developers to profitably redevelop the sites. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, Mr Mitchell, I have no further questions. 

 35 

SJH:   Ms Dawson. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Mr Mitchell.  Just following on from those 

questions, have you turned your mind to those areas of the city that you 

think are more attractive than have been zoned and how much of those.  40 

I mean, the sort of answers to the questions you have posed to us, it 

would make, improve the likelihood of this intensification being taken 

up? 

 

MR MITCHELL:   One of the many reports I read, was one of the Section 32 45 

Reports which talked about the process in which the Council went 
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through to identify zones. And I think, as I said, that that approach has 

some logic, however, it did seem to exclude some of the higher value 

areas and I think there is a map in the report that I produced for CERA 

and MBIE in 2013 which showed where the higher value suburb 

locations were, and they do seem to be excluded from - - - 5 

 

SJH:   The question is where are they, which ones are they? 

 

MR MITCHELL:   Well, they are around the drive in from the Airport, up to in 

here. 10 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MS DAWSON:   So Riccarton, Fendalton, Merivale - - - 

 15 

MR MITCHELL:   Correct, yes. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes.  Thank you very much. 

 

SJH:   Mr Sax. 20 

 

MR SAX:   Yes, good morning Mr Mitchell.  The question of intensification 

and to me it is how much.  I think we heard an opinion expressed 

yesterday from Mr Blair that rather than pepper potting additional 

residences across an area which, if it is a 1,000 metre site, the example 25 

we took was over 4,000 metres, if we are taking Mr Gimblett’s view, it 

may be less (INDISTINCT 2.29) a hectare, so we have 10 sites, if it is 

not aggregated, on average, it is going to be 10 additional homes. 

 

 If we allowed those to be aggregated and used ratios that are now used 30 

in Auckland quite typically which is 190 square metres per dwelling, 

that will give us a 525 percent increase of residences on any given land 

area. 

 

MR MITCHELL:   Sure. 35 

 

MR SAX:   If you take those figures as given.  I think Mr Blair constructively 

suggested there may be a strategy of encouraging aggregation by 

freeing up those rules which means cheaper land. 

 40 

 So I am just wondering whether that sort of notion will put us all out of 

our misery of trying to guess future markets, future trends, future 

behaviours, because if that is true, there is a tremendous amount of 

capacity within the areas we are talking about but by going down a 

different route.  45 
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 Just your response thoughts on that? 

 

MR MITCHELL:   Obviously there typically are efficiencies by site 

aggregation.  The challenge that exist within existing urban areas, is the 

fragmentation of ownership across those areas, and so to achieve that, 5 

you need to be able to purchase the property off a whole range of 

different landowners and that generally takes a reasonable amount of 

time which impacts on the holding costs of the development, and so it 

is not just a straight exercise in terms of bringing a whole lot of sites 

together and be able to do a more efficient development, because there 10 

are additional costs involved in terms of holding costs, et cetera. 

 

 One thing of note, I suppose, is looking at most of the intensification in 

the densities that have been talked about, they are not actually that 

dense in the context of comparison with somewhere like Auckland.  15 

You know, you can achieve densities of 40 dwellings per hectare 

because we are already excluding the public roads, townhouses and 

other such developments, so we are not talking about even medium 

density apartment buildings. 

 20 

 So providing the sites are good regular shapes, developers can actually 

achieve reasonably good efficiencies in terms of fitting sites, dwellings 

on sites. 

 

MR SAX:   Personal preference.  We have had expressed from Mr Gimblett, 25 

the ability to deal with neighbouring effects on larger sites and perhaps 

more efficiently. 

 

 Do you have a preference to really what I would call pepper pot infill to 

the objective of taking clusters or precincts and designing and dealing 30 

with that well? 

 

  [11.00 am] 

 

MR MITCHELL:   Well, I suppose the challenge is if you only want to do 35 

intensification through a site amalgamation you are likely to stifle the 

supply.  So I think it is a worthy goal to create rules and regulations to 

assist developers in terms of amalgamating sites and when they do 

amalgamate the sites get greater efficiencies, and you can actually 

control some of the externalities much better with a larger site, but at 40 

the same time, if the goal is to achieve the densities talked about in my 

evidence there probably needs to be a combination of both. 

 

MR SAX:   Thank you, no further questions. 

 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Chairman. Mr Mitchell, just referring to 

your paragraph 8.7? 

 

MR MITCHELL:   8.7? 

 5 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thanks.  You refer there to the word developers and 

you use that in your evidence elsewhere in terms of other comments 

around consultation or engagement with developers, and you say here 

that developers are rational, profit driven organisations, and in answer 

to Ms Scott when she questioned you on this, you said in your answer 10 

that when you refer to developers, you are referring to developers, not 

landowners.  

 

 From your knowledge of the Christchurch market, is there an 

identifiable cohort of developers that you have in mind? I mean a small 15 

group or a large group or – I am just wanting to get a handle on what 

you mean by developers. 

 

MR MITCHELL:   I am not aware of an organisation that represents residential 

property developers per se, there are a number of organisations like the 20 

Property Council, for example, who do represent people who are active 

in the property market, but I would, and I have done surveys for the 

Ministry of Business Innovation and Employment in the past in terms 

of talking to a range of different developers, so I would have thought 

that the Council would be well placed to know who the larger 25 

developers or a range of – sorry, the organisations who are developing 

dwellings within the city, I do not have a list, sorry. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. You say, they will migrate to areas which 

offer profitable development opportunities and where the risks are 30 

manageable, from your knowledge of the Christchurch market, are you 

aware of any specifics as to whether or not that is actually materialising 

or is at risk of materialising? 

 

MR MITCHELL:   I think it has already materialised to a large extent with the 35 

majority of the activity happening on the urban fringe, and outside 

Christchurch City at the moment. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Just finally, you mentioned in answer to Ms Dawson as to 

areas where you thought there ought to be more opportunity for 40 

development, I think you mentioned the three areas of Riccarton, 

Merivale and Fendalton? 

 

MR MITCHELL:   I think she suggested those and I agreed, yes. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Do you have any further to add to that? 
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SJH:   That is not quite correct, you were asked for a list and I had to force you 

to answer the question, Mr Mitchell. 

 

MR MITCHELL:   That is correct, yes. 5 

 

SJH:   And then you indicated those areas. 

 

MR MITCHELL:   Yes. 

 10 

SJH:   So let us get it right, shall we. 

 

MR MITCHELL:   Yes.  

 

SJH:   Thank you. 15 

 

MR MITCHELL:   Sorry. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So do you clarify your answer? 

 20 

MR MITCHELL:   Yes, it does, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So if we look at those areas, all traditional, if you like, 

suburban, although Merivale has a significant degree of intensification 

and Riccarton has some degree of it, am I right to understand that in 25 

terms of developers seeking to maintain a profitable development, take 

for instance your example of someone who has a large house who 

wants to trade down to one where they maintain their amenities and 

have a high quality smaller house and can then free up and liquidate 

some of their asset for their retirement savings, for instance, that sort of 30 

example, I think you mentioned one of that kind, that would be an 

example, wouldn’t it, a person in that area may want to live in the same 

area but have a smaller house and free up capital, would that be an 

example of it? 

 35 

  [11.05 am] 

 

MR MITCHELL:   That is correct, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Am I right to understand a person in that situation, and 40 

therefore the developer would respond to this, would want to ensure 

they maintained the level of amenity in a neighbourhood and 

streetscape sense as they had before or equivalent to it? 

 

MR MITCHELL:   Well, I am sure, I think you are right, yes, the developer 45 

would want to try and develop a property which was consistent with the 
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environment in which it is, and obviously there are a number of ways 

they could attempt to do that.  

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, but it is on that assumption. 

 5 

MR MITCHELL:   Yes, it is. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Ms Scott? 10 

 

MS SCOTT:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Mr Radich? 

 15 

MR RADICH:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Mitchell, you can stand down. 

 

MR MITCHELL:   Thank you. 20 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [11.05 am] 

 

SJH:   We will take the morning adjournment, thank you. 

 25 

ADJOURNED [11.05 am] 

 

RESUMED [11.21 am] 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you, Mr Radich. 30 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you, your Honour, I have asked Mr Schellekens to 

come forward to save time. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 35 

 

<JOHAN JOHN SCHELLEKENS, affirmed [11.21 am] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR RADICH [11.21 am] 

 

MR RADICH:   Your name is Johan Schellekens, John Schellekens? 

 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   Correct. 5 

 

MR RADICH:   You are the National Director of Professional Services at 

CBRE Limited? 

 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   Correct. 10 

 

MR RADICH:   You have given a statement of evidence for the Crown dated 

20 March 2015. 

 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   Correct. 15 

 

MR RADICH:   Are there any changes you’d like to make to it? 

 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   No. 

 20 

MR RADICH:   Do you confirm it to be true and correct? 

 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   Yes. 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you. Please would you now provide a summary of your 25 

evidence for the Panel? 

 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   My evidence addresses the intensification capacity in 

proposal 14. So the key analysis that I have undertaken has been to first 

consider the proportion of the intensification targets set out in the 30 

LURP to the existing urban areas of greater Christchurch that should be 

targeted for Christchurch City.  Second, work with Boffa Miskell on 

GIS modelling to convert a theoretical development capacity estimate 

within Christchurch City’s existing urban areas into a practical capacity 

estimate.  35 

 

 Third, undertake analysis on residential medium to high density 

development feasibility to inform, beyond the practical capacity that 

might be implied by GIS modelling to inform the actual enable 

capacity, or in other words capacity that actually gets developed.  And 40 

finally to use this analysis to form my view on whether the 

intensification target in the LURP is achievable. 

 

 The analysis underpinning my observation is necessarily high level, 

given that it is not a property by property analysis and it is not practical 45 

to do that type of analysis in the context of the scope of my statement.  
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However I consider the analysis to be sufficiently informative to frame 

the likelihood of the intensification targets being met. 

 

 In relation to capacity issues, it is important in my opinion to point out 

that the modelling that has been undertaken starts with theoretical 5 

capacity and filters down to a practical capacity, but importantly from 

my perspective, the practical capacity is not the same as true enabled 

capacity. 

 

 So true enabled capacity in my mind is economically feasible and 10 

market attractive ready capacity, capacity that the development market 

can be expected to step up and develop. 

 

 Reading Dr Fairgray’s evidence my sense is that there is only limited 

reference to the issue associated with enabled capacity.  Fundamentally 15 

the principle could be expressed by way of an example where there are, 

say, capacity for 20 development sites in the community, that does not 

mean that 20 will be developed by 2028 put simply.  And there are 

quite a few reasons for this in my view. 

 20 

  [11.25 am] 

 

 The first is land banking which is a well-known problem with 

development. 

 25 

 Second is the depth of the capitalised private developer market.  It is 

limited and they face a range of challenges in developing in 

Christchurch at present and there is also an overlay of feasibility 

challenges which I have addressed in my evidence. 

 30 

 Third, sites requiring amalgamation, some sites will ideally need to be 

amalgamated to facilitate development and amalgamation or 

agglomeration, as it is referred to, is very challenging to achieve. 

 

 Fourth, legacy ownership issues, an elderly couple in a home, for 35 

example, who don’t care there is a higher and better use for their site, 

they still want to live there and they are not going to leave so the site 

won’t get developed. 

 

 Finally, but importantly, there will be at least one and possibly more 40 

property cycles within the period to 2028 where feasibility will ebb and 

flow between those cycles and become more or less challenging.   

 

 Another key difference between Dr Fairgray and myself relates to the 

target proportion of the intensification target for Christchurch City.  I 45 

consider that 90 percent of the intensification target should be targeted 
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for the city. Dr Fairgray considers this target is too high and 

recommends 66 to 79 percent.   

 

 Dr Fairgray’s approach can, I think in my mind, be captured on the 

basis that he concurs that development in the city will be challenging.  5 

He suggests that his take on the modelling is that there will be 

overcapacity although I would argue that even if he is right with this, 

for the reasons I state, practical capacity should not be confused with 

enabled capacity. 

 10 

 He says that given the challenges Christchurch will not face an 

undersupply of development land over the lifespan of the plan so 

therefore no need to lubricate the opportunity for development.  In my 

opinion, this is consistent with accepting today really that 

intensification in the city won’t occur and that the overall objectives of 15 

the CRP will not be met so therefore accept a lower target.   

 

 Presumably on this basis, if we accept Dr Fairgray’s view, the 

counterfactual is that the balance of the 20,700-odd target would need 

to be delivered in existing urban areas outside the city and I suggest 20 

this will be equally challenged given the greater substitution challenges 

that exist in that market compared to greenfield opportunities. 

 

 In many respects Dr Fairgray and my views are not really in conflict.  

We have agreed on the core for the base model although we disagree to 25 

some extent on the add-ons, Housing New Zealand, retirement units, 

amalgamation. We agree that development feasibility will be 

challenging and we agree that any intensification should be targeted in 

the right locations. However, the key differences arise from the 

fundamental approach to the issue.   30 

 

 So I approach the capacity issue from the perspective of what will best 

achieve the Council’s objectives to 2028 and beyond.   I say that yes 

the development environment is challenging and therefore if we don’t 

provide the right environment now we will get compromised 35 

development outcomes in the short-term that will then compromise 

longer-term objectives.  I say what is the downside in providing zoning 

upside in the right areas? 

 

 If the zoning capacity is there it doesn’t mean that a developer will step 40 

up and develop it but it does mean that if there is a developer ready to 

step up they can and there is more change that they will and this would 

be one step closer to a more liveable city. A city with better urban 

outcomes, intensification in the key activity areas and better use of 

infrastructure. 45 
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 Contrast this with a scenario where adequate capacity isn’t provided 

and it is easier to go greenfield and the current problem is perpetuated 

and the journey to a more liveable city becomes increasingly 

compromised.   

 5 

 Dr Fairgray also raises sensitivity to the model to downside capacity, 

amalgamation, housing units and retirement units, for example.  There 

is no doubt that there is downside in these numbers and it is a high 

level modelling basis and I think I say in my statement that it could be 

15 percent either side so there is definitely downside in it. 10 

 

 What Dr Fairgray omits, sorry, to mention is that there is 

overestimation or capacity bias built into the model.  The model 

doesn’t account for property cycles and bearing in mind we are 

probably at a relatively buoyant stage in the market at the moment.   15 

 

  [11.30 am] 

 

 It doesn’t account for infrastructure challenges.  It doesn’t account for 

character overlays, floor level issues, potential Geotech issues, and it 20 

embeds conservative analysis by Boffa Miskell. 

 

 Then most importantly, it does not account for the below the line 

viability challenges, if you like, associated with delivering housing 

projects and the issues that impact on enabled capacity. 25 

 

 In terms of my reference – or referenced in table one of my statement, 

my preferred scenario of filtering suggest a shortfall of just over 5,000 

households by 2028.  Under a low scenario filtering where practical 

capacity exceeds the level I suspect is most likely, a shortfall is still 30 

implied of around 500, but you know, acknowledge that given the 

accuracy of the model that could mean that there is no capacity issue.  

 

 Dr Fairgray’s estimates, noting that he recommends a lower target of 

66-79 percent, suggests that there is no capacity issue under most of his 35 

scenarios. I have discussed the key reason for Dr Fairgray’s more 

optimistic results being that he assumes a lower target and makes 

material positive adjustments for retirement and social housing units, 

and a larger positive adjustment for minor dwelling units. 

 40 

 I have summarised four of his scenarios, again in table 1, and three of 

these scenarios suggest surplus capacity.   

 

 If, however, I remove his estimates for retirement units/social housing 

units, then the adjusted results imply that most of his scenarios result in 45 

a shortfall.  
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 On the basis of this analysis alone, it might be assumed that there is a 

chance that there is no capacity issue, particularly if Dr Fairgray’s 

analysis is on face accepted.  In my opinion, however, the more likely 

outcome is that there will be a capacity shortfall.  5 

 

 I reiterate, however, that via the CBRE report I completed in my earlier 

comments on feasibility challenges, this analysis in my opinion 

provides a very important insight into the challenges of urban 

intensification, and I conclude in my statement that there are many 10 

challenges associated with medium to high density residential 

development feasibility, which reflect a complex matrix of issues 

associated with land costs, construction costs and market acceptability 

of build product. 

 15 

 Dr Fairgray, in his statement acknowledges this issue in passing.  I 

clearly think it is a more significant issue than he does. 

 

 So finally, my feasibility analysis suggests that even if the numbers 

based filtering process did imply that sufficient, practical capacity 20 

existed, ie that Dr Fairgray’s estimates are correct for example, only a 

proportion of this capacity could ever be expected to be delivered.  

Therefore, any planning approach should apply a multi-pronged 

approach to encourage development activity in building a robust, 

practical capacity buffer to ensure that intensification targets have the 25 

best chance of being met.   

 

 Fundamentally there is a lot of greenfield opportunities, so any 

intensity in existing urban areas will be up against it.  Thank you. 

 30 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Scott? 

 

<CROSS EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT [11.33 am] 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, thank you, sir.  Good morning Mr Schellekens.  First of all 35 

I would just like to thank you for the work that you have been doing 

with the Council and constructively meeting in caucusing on this issue. 

 

 My understanding, and I think you have outlined that in your summary, 

is that the Crown and the Council are now in a position where there are 40 

only some key areas of disagreement in respect of their modelling 

work.  I just want to take you through some of those this morning. 

 

 First of all, in terms of your comments in your evidence, and also in 

your summary this morning, you have acknowledged that the work that 45 

has been completed is a high level analysis only, and based on high 
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level yet reasonable assumptions and professional judgement regarding 

supply of development land.   

 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   That is correct.  

 5 

MS SCOTT:   And like any future predicting exercise there is an element of 

uncertainty in that work that you have predicted. 

 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   That is correct.  

 10 

MS SCOTT:   Now, adding to that uncertainty is the intensification target and 

the uncertainty around what that is.  Yesterday my friend Mr Radich 

referred to that as “an inspirational target” and you agree with that 

statement? 

 15 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   I do not really have a basis to agree or disagree, sorry, 

I was not involved in establishing that target. 

 

  [11.35 am] 

 20 

MS SCOTT:   Okay.  If I can take you to your table 5, which is on page 35 of 

your evidence.  This is the table where you calculate the shortfall at 

5,375.  If I can take you down to row C, under the preferred scenario. 

We have established that the LURP target of 20,742 is a target over 16 

years, is that correct? 25 

 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   However, in your 2012 to 2028 period, which is 16 years, you 

have used, have you not, estimates of other capacity, so this is for that 30 

development potential that you have added over a 14 year period? 

 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   Yes there is a difference there.  I think Doug uses 16, 

which is the length of the Plan.  I have kind of taken the view, rightly 

or wrongly, that as we sit today, there are only 14 years to go, so, I just 35 

used that metric. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Would it have not been a better approach to compare the 16 

years of intensification target with 16 years of growth and other 

capacity? 40 

 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   I guess you could argue that for consistency, that 

might have been a better approach, but it does seem odd to be sitting 

here today and talking about two years hence in delivery of these add-

ons. 45 
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MS SCOTT:   Yes, but the two years difference has not been taken into 

account in the overall intensification targets. 

 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   That is a fair observation. 

 5 

MS SCOTT:   So perhaps, not a significant point, but if you were to add in the 

additional two years, if you look at the 1,050 minor dwelling units that 

you have there listed in C, another two years would take that up to 1, 

200? 

 10 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   No, it would be 2 divided by 14, wouldn’t it, times 

that. 

 

MS SCOTT:   It would only take you up by another 150. 

 15 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   Times that number, yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And then again, for the infill housing. 

 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   It would bring those numbers up a minor amount in 20 

each case, yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, thank you. With no specific direction from a higher order 

document, it has been established that there is no definite figure that 

directs your modelling and that the Panel must adopt, is there? 25 

 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   When you say my modelling, do you mean - - - 

 

SJH:   I think you are referring to the percentage of intensification between 

Christchurch and greater Christchurch. 30 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, thank you, sir, but there is no definite direction on where 

that split is? 

 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   No that is a matter of opinion, that is right. 35 

 

MS SCOTT:   Are you familiar with the Minister’s Direction within the Land 

Use Recovery Plan to include Chapter 6 into the Regional Policy 

Statement? 

 40 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   No, I am not familiar with that. 

 

MS SCOTT:   That was incorporated at the same time as the LURP directed 

the EHM and the CHRM to go into the Operative Plan and what it does 

is direct the Council to rezone greenfield land around the periphery.  So 45 

this is the greenfield land that you talk about in your evidence. 
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Adopting the 90 percent target figure that you have promoted in your 

evidence, that would mean that approximately four fifths of the city’s 

growth to 2028 would be through intensification.  Do you accept that? 

 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   I have not done the numbers, but if you are telling me 5 

that is the case, I have to accept that. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And what are you views on how that figure fits with the 

Minister’s Direction to also enable fairly significant areas of greenfield 

land for development? 10 

 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   Perhaps if I step back and explain why I have used 80 

and 90 percent.  The intensification target, I think it is referenced in a 

number of documents about what is trying to be achieved there, 

including better urban outcomes, availability of land for intensification, 15 

better use of infrastructure, better communities.  All of those things to 

me point to intensification occurring in the city area as opposed to 

Selwyn and Waimakariri. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, thank you.  Reflecting on those comments, do you consider 20 

that Dr Fairgray’s figure of 70 percent intensification versus 30 percent 

greenfield to be more reasonable, in light of the Minister’s directions to 

release that greenfields land? 

 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   Well it does not seem as consistent as my position, 25 

given the wider objectives of the intensification targets, in my view. 

 

  [11.40 am] 

 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you.  And if you could move to paragraph 3.7.1 of your 30 

evidence, it is on page 5.  Actually, I am just going to skip over that, 

you have already answered my question on that one.  Paragraph 3.7.4, 

please.  

 

 You discuss in 3.7.4 improvement values percentages, which determine 35 

whether a development is viable.  Over time that number of properties 

that fall within that threshold will increase as land values rise at a 

greater rate than improvements.  Do you agree with that statement? 

 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   Sorry, can you restate the question.  Sorry, if it was as 40 

land values rise improvement values will drop, is that what - - - 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, that is correct. 

 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   - - - and, therefore, in the modelling context, I guess 45 

what you are saying is that something will become more developable. 
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MS SCOTT:   More ripe for intensification and uptake. 

 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   I accept that, but I think there is some explanation 

required. So, this is a high level model, it is not perfect, it is not site by 5 

site, it is not even community by community or suburb by suburb, it is 

a very high level GIS model.  So, we need to have some mechanism to 

filter out properties which are going to be challenging to develop. 

 

  I think in my CBRE report, which is in my evidence, I did some 10 

analysis using an actual feasibility model, which I am very familiar 

with because a large part of my work is advising developers on 

feasibility.  And I ran a scenario where the land value is at just market 

land value, so say, for argument’s sake it is $100, and that a developer 

requires a margin, and can they actually make that margin.  And then if 15 

you increase the land value to $125, which is commensurate with 

having to buy a property with a house on it that is worth $25, then the 

feasibility drops by half.  And if you increase it to $140, the feasibility 

drops by half again.  

 20 

 So, what I am saying is that it is a filter to say that when there is a 

prevalence of improvements that have value, which means the 

developer has to pay for those to acquire an otherwise developable site, 

it has a very material impact on development margin.  

 25 

 And so we established this filter and Dr Hargreaves can argue that it 

might change over time and, yes, it might change over time, in fact I 

think it could go both ways, depending on the amount of supply in the 

market. But what is important is that we use 27.5 percent, well my 

recommendation was 25 percent, but there is enough flex in that kind 30 

of model to deal with changes in improvements value relative to land 

value, because arguably we could have adopted a lower percentage. 

 

MS SCOTT:   So based on those uncertainties that you have just outlined, do 

you have any reservations in terms of relying on that work in order to 35 

open out further areas of residential land within the district for 

intensification? 

 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   I do, I think the context of my advice has been to, at a 

high level, provide an indication of whether I think these targets are 40 

going to be met. And I guess what I am saying to you is that I think 

there are some real challenges around it.  So, if you are going to use 

this evidence to determine the extent of, say, RMD that you create, I 

think there is probably a little bit more work required.  I think that Dr 

Fairgray and I agree that, and from what I have heard this morning 45 

listening to the other experts, that there needs to be an element of 
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picking the right locations for where you do allow for additional 

capacity and that would, frankly, take a little bit more work to actually 

see where those locations were. 

 

MS SCOTT:   So would you support an approach where that model was rerun 5 

annually or perhaps every two or three years to actually identify in a 

more certain way the number of candidate sites for redevelopment 

within the RMD zone? 

 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   I think that has merit, but I do think that, again, you 10 

would probably need to take this model from where it is now and 

actually do a little bit more work around the very locations where we 

collectively think that we should be targeting this intensification for.  

So a little more granular work. 

 15 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you.  Moving on to some of the exclusions that you have 

made in terms of total intensification capacity, is the Housing New 

Zealand Corporation and retirement village capacity.  Your position is 

that those developments are already captured in the modelling, is that 

correct? 20 

 

  [11.45 am] 

 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   Yes, and I think, if I just step through them, retirement 

villages in my mind is I am entirely comfortable that the model 25 

captures any capacity.  And why I say that is I work in a business, I am 

professional services, but a lot of my colleagues and myself from time 

to time we sell blocks of land and there is a lot of land being sold at the 

moment to residential developers, particularly in Auckland but some in 

Christchurch.   30 

 

 And I know categorically that when we sell that land we get residential 

developers step up and we get all of the major retirement village 

operators, which you will know, there is probably four of them.  They 

are always there and they are always competing for that land with 35 

residential developers and sometimes, commonly they are the over 

bidder but not always, but they are just competing with other residential 

developers and in which case I am confident that the model picks that 

up. 

 40 

 In terms of Housing New Zealand it is a limited bit more nuanced.  I 

am concerned a little bit with Dr Fairgray’s estimates on that because if 

our model is excluding it then it means it has got existing units on it.  

So I think any numbers put forward about new capacity from that 

would have to have those units netted off, and I accept that there may 45 
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be some additional supply associated with those sites. I don’t know 

how much, I haven’t done any work on it.  

 

 But I would also say, and no disrespect to Housing New Zealand, but I 

have done a lot of work with them in the past and they are pretty slow 5 

moving and they would need to get some momentum before those sites 

would actually be delivered. 

 

MS SCOTT:  So can you just confirm that at the moment the modelling doesn’t 

differentiate between Housing New Zealand owned properties and 10 

private owned properties? 

 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   That is correct. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Or Council owned properties for that matter either? 15 

 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   That is correct. 

 

MS SCOTT:  Have you read the evidence of Mr Commons for Housing 

New Zealand? 20 

 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   No, I haven’t. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Mr Commons outlines in his evidence Housing New Zealand’s 

approach to provide dwellings for its tenants rather than for sale to the 25 

open market, if you take it that that is what his evidence is.  Would you 

accept that developments which may not be commercially feasible 

according to the modelling will nevertheless be consistent with 

Housing New Zealand’s objectives? 

 30 

MR SCHELLEKENS: Look, that is more nuanced again and I think 

Dr Fairgray touches on it.  I do a fair bit of work in the social housing 

space and their model, as Dr Fairgray points out, is that where they 

have a development site their optimum scenario would be to redevelop 

it and hold maybe 20 or 30 percent and sell the rest to the private 35 

sector.   

 

 So as soon as you go down that approach you are requiring the private 

sector to step up with their development capital and get a development 

commensurate return on that capital.  So, yes, it gets lubricated, if you 40 

like, by Housing New Zealand’s approach to it and that have, you 

know, a sort of not-for-profit view, if you like, but at the same time 

there is actually a significant component where developers need to step 

up and they make a margin.   

 45 
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 And I am working on a project like that in Wellington at the very 

moment where the housing provider is looking to retain 20 or 

30 percent and one of the issues that we are facing, because we are 

designing a procurement process as well, is how many developers there 

are that will actually step up and be able to do that project which, you 5 

know, it is a bit of a worry because there is not many. 

 

MS SCOTT:  I think we will come to that when Housing New Zealand presents 

its case.   

 10 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   Okay. 

 

MS SCOTT:   But moving on, just the model hasn’t taken into account the 

likely benefits of amalgamation and coordinated development across 

sites, I think you have acknowledged that is morning? 15 

 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   Not specifically, no, to the extent that amalgamation I 

guess would result in a higher yield than individual sites, no, it hasn’t 

accounted for that. 

 20 

MS SCOTT:  And Mr Commons’ evidence is that Housing New Zealand’s 

landholdings are rationalised which gives the opportunity for 

developments on adjacent sites of a fairly significant size.  Would you 

not accept that amalgamation has a considerable effect on dwelling 

yield and on the economics of redevelopment for Housing 25 

New Zealand? 

 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   For Housing New Zealand, yes, I accept that. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And that as a reasonably simple concept efficiencies can be 30 

achieved through layout on bigger sites, would you agree with that? 

 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   I accept that.  What I don’t accept though, I am not 

sure if you are going to ask me is, I don’t accept the amalgamation 

argument around non-Housing New Zealand or sites that aren’t held in 35 

common ownership.  I can expand on that if you would like but - - - 

 

SJH:   Please do. 

 

MR SCHELLEKENS:  So where you have got individual sites held in common 40 

ownership, well, clearly it is very easy to amalgamate or agglomerate 

and get benefits in terms of yield and urban design outcomes, design 

outcomes et cetera. 

 

  [11.50 am] 45 
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 Where you do not have common ownership I would be very, very 

weary of accepting any argument that amalgamation or agglomeration 

will present a real opportunity for capacity because, the reality is, it is 

extremely hard to do. I think, you know, we could all imagine a 

situation where you own a site and may be it is 2,000 square meters and 5 

you go to buy your neighbour, I mean the chance is firstly that your 

neighbour wants to sell to you is pretty, you know, pretty low I would 

suggest, and even if they did, if they knew that you were amalgamating 

or agglomerating there is probably going to be a premium on it, so you 

have to pay more for the land, so the cost of your land input goes up 10 

and therefore your feasibility metrics go down because you have got 

higher input costs. 

 

 So I just do not think that is going to be a real “white light” so to speak 

in terms of capacity.  But I do acknowledge in the case of Housing 15 

New Zealand that there is value in that. 

 

MS SCOTT:   If we could work through an example in terms of the 

implications of that, if you could just go back to your table 5 of your 

evidence, page 35 – sorry, I am sending you to the wrong place, my 20 

apologies – it is your appendix JBJS2 which is on page 42, it is titled 

“Boffa Miskell CDRE Modelling Output”. 

 

 I am just going to work my way down the – if we ignore the one at the 

very top but the three are sub-tables - so focusing on the first one, you 25 

have, if we just look at the RMD zone, which is the fourth column 

across, and then we have the minimum site area, which is one of the 

filters that is applied there, where a site is removed which does not 

reach the minimum size, if we just work through there, in the 35 years, 

65 percent improvement table, the 2,175 is reduced to 1,403, do you 30 

see that there? 

 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And in the table below which is the 35 years with 72.5 percent 35 

improvement, the figure drops from 1,600 to 1,091. 

 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And again in the table below, the figure drops from 1,207 to 40 

817. So would you agree under each of those three outputs that the drop 

is about one third? 

 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   Yes. 

 45 
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MS SCOTT:   So would you agree with me that as a matter of logic more 

properties would be feasible to develop if this was incorporated into the 

model? 

 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   When you say “this” you mean Housing New Zealand 5 

opportunity for amalgamation? 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, removing the filter that removes sites which have not yet 

reached the minimum size, so yes, in terms of - - -  

 10 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   I have no idea.  I mean yes in principle there would be 

some upside in that.  I have no idea how big that would be. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, thank you.  Just moving onto - - -  

 15 

SJH:   Many more?  You are well past the time. 

 

MS SCOTT:   No, I do not have many more questions at all, sir.  Just your 

evidence is quite clear that there are market constraints that will limit 

uptake of intensification.  I think you say in your evidence that there 20 

are currently strong market drivers which oppose any large increase in 

demand or dwellings from intensification, including consumer 

preference for standalone houses, significant greenfield land supply and 

accelerated housing delivery on the outskirts of Christchurch, and I 

think that is a common concern that we all have here. 25 

 

 You recognise at paragraph 13.2 of your evidence that broadly, unless 

those constraints change, neither your target for intensification nor Mr 

Fairgray’s target for intensification will be met? 

 30 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   What I am saying is that, those challenges exist so, 

yes, we will accept that I think, and there are other challenges as well, 

around intensification.  So what I am saying is that we therefore need to 

be very careful that we create an environment that provides the biggest 

opportunity for intensification in the areas that we want it. 35 

 

  [11.55 am] 

 

MS SCOTT:   And would you accept that following that logic, that until the 

market preferences, which is one of the key problems, and other 40 

economic factors change, that there will be no shortfall in land supply 

for RMD areas? 

 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   That is one interpretation of it, it is not an irrational 

interpretation, but what I would suggest to you is that the right reason 45 
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though to set the target low and create an environment that creates 

opportunities for developers. 

 

MS SCOTT:   That is the question, thank you, sir, no more questions.  

 5 

SJH:   Dr Mitchell. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, Mr Schellekens, I have just got a couple of 

pretty straightforward questions.  Dr Fairgray at his paragraph 3.6, I 

will read it to you, it is a short paragraph, he says, “The capacity 10 

estimates indicate that by 2028 only small shares, that is, 10 percent or 

less of the maximum potential capacity from each source would be 

utilised.” 

 

 Do you agree with that? 15 

 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   I think that there is a risk of that happening for sure, so 

hence I am saying let us create an environment that mitigates the risk of 

that happening. 

 20 

DR MITCHELL:   All right.  Dr Fairgray also said that if your targets were 

utilised, that the amount of RMD, medium density, sorry, medium 

density zone would multiply by about a factor of four.  You would 

agree with that? 

 25 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   Is that across the whole city or is it just across the 

existing RMD? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   The existing – well the proposed RMD which is the olive 

colouration on the map on your left. 30 

 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   I have not done the numbers, but in some ways it does 

not necessarily surprise me.  I mean if you think about what would be a 

great outcome for the city, it would be to have quite a bit of density in 

those locations, wouldn’t it. 35 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you.  And just finally, you have talked 

about the negative or the risk of under supply and the consequences of 

that.  Are there any negative complications of over capacity rather than 

under capacity, I mean, you are proposing more, what is the downside 40 

of doing that if the actual demand is as Dr Fairgray predicts?   

 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   Well I can see downside or negative potential if you 

put it in the wrong places, so you know, because the last thing we want 

is an established neighbourhood that has high amenity value and is 45 

functioning perfectly well all of a sudden to have a relatively large or a 
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bulk intensive development in the middle, I do not think that would be 

a great outcome, it would be a bad outcome. 

 

 So as long as any increase in intensification opportunities is targeted to 

the right locations though, I do not see any negative, I cannot think of 5 

any negative outcomes because of that. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   So it is about location? 

 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   It is about location. 10 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Ms Dawson. 

 15 

MS DAWSON:   I just have one question I think Mr Schellekens, and it may 

be that Mr Radich can help. 

 

 The Boffa Miskell mapping has been referred to a lot but we have not 

actually ever been provided with a copy of the output.  I think I have 20 

seen a version attached to the back of Mr Redikens (ph. 3.31) transport 

evidence for the Council.  But is it the intention that we would have 

that mapped through the Crown? 

 

 What the map shows is it shows the pepper potting - where the yellow 25 

areas, where there is potential for development outside the existing 

zone, well in and outside the existing zones which is helpful for us 

when we are considering different areas and what their potential is. 

 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   I do not have that available, ma’am, but that is 30 

something I can make enquiries about. 

 

SJH:   And it will be provided. 

 

MR RADICH:   Yes, sir. 35 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Do you understand what I mean by that map? 

 40 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   Yes, I cannot see any reason why they would not be. 

 

MS DAWSON:   Where it would be disadvantageous for us to have that. 

 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   It is what it is. 45 
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MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you, that would be helpful, thank you very 

much.    

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Sax. 

 5 

MR SAX:   Yes, one question for Mr Schellekens.  In terms of over- supply, 

surely one of the advantages of that would be the prospect of reducing 

price by perhaps increased intensification and the options that you 

talked about and which, in itself, gives one of the key drivers of people 

in terms of preference of the preferred area, if it is cheaper they are 10 

more likely to migrate into a higher density area. 

 

 Would that be an advantage? 

 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   100 percent agree, yes. 15 

 

MR SAX:   Thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, thank you, Mr Chairman, two questions thank you, 

Mr Schellekens. 20 

 

 Firstly, on the question of areas that have been identified or 

intensification and what might be available further. 

 

  [12.00 pm] 25 

 

 In essence, the Crown’s submissions to us are to the effect that we have 

got two choices to consider, one is to effectively accept the policy that 

goes into the Plan which would provide a benchmark for the Council to 

review and re-review and add areas according to a certain formula, and 30 

secondly to give direction as we can do under our order for areas to be 

notified, if you like, and for us to consider as a Panel, and we would 

obviously reflect on those two. 

 

 I am interested though in only two specific areas which came out of 35 

Mr Blair’s evidence and I thought I might ask you whether you knew 

anything about them contextually.  One is in Hornby where Mr Blair 

explained that the Council elected not to proceed with as much RMD as 

originally they consulted on.  And the second is – well, there it is there, 

no that is not it, but it does not matter – the other one is at Linwood, 40 

which was, it seems like a larger area was consulted on in terms of 

what the Council has actually decided to do. 

 

 So in terms of those two areas, do you have any comments to make 

around what that might add to the equation in terms of capacity, in 45 
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other words to assist us with whether we should go with one or other of 

those options or a hybrid or combination of them?  Do you understand? 

 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   I am sorry, I have not done any specific analysis. If 

you can make the question more generic I could have a view on it. 5 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, I think I will leave it there.  If you had something to 

say on it, you would be able to say it. 

 

 Second thing I want to ask you about, just broadly on this question of 10 

amalgamation, and you describe the complexities in that area and the 

difficulties, one of which is you may have a keen buyer but an 

unwilling seller or a reluctant one seeking a premium.  Would I be right 

to understand that if the Plan provided a vehicle by which both buyer 

and seller would be relatively better off than they would be under the 15 

normal traditional means, in other words a value uplift for both, that 

would help deal with that, wouldn’t it? 

 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   Well, no - - - 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, let us put it another way.  What I am thinking of is 

whether in fact part of what we might need to think about is the concept 

of a floating zone to allow greater opportunity to be given in regard to 

amalgamation opportunities and whether that might be worth thinking 

about, not just in the areas identified for residential medium density, 25 

but perhaps in other zones to allow, for instance, opportunity for buyer 

and seller to get the gain of some form of perhaps greater 

intensification, obviously there would be urban design issues to 

consider.  

 30 

MR SCHELLEKENS:   Look, I think yes and no. Yes, if you create an 

opportunity that potentially goes across boundaries and creates a bigger 

opportunity that has more value, then it allows the developer who is 

trying to seek the site to amalgamate a value upside which they can use 

to apply to the neighbour to buy the land. So, yes, that is a good thing. 35 

 

 But I think you still potentially, depending on the degree on 

sophistication in the market, you have still got a vendor on the other 

side who, if they know what’s happening and they know their 

neighbour’s got this value uplift and their sites gone up, they will still 40 

be potentially putting their hand out.  So I guess what I am saying is I 

think it is going to continue to be a major struggle to see outcomes 

from that type of approach, but to the extent you can lubricate it, well, 

yes, it is a good idea. 

 45 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 
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SJH:   Thank you. Ms Scott? 

 

MS SCOTT:   No, thank you, sir. 

 5 

MR RADICH:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you very much, you may stand down and you may be excused. 

Yes, Mr Radich. 

 10 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.03 pm] 

 

MR RADICH:   I call Mr Klein. 

 

<BRUCE TREVOR KLEIN, sworn [12.04 pm] 15 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR RADICH [12.04 pm] 

 

MR RADICH:   Your full name is Bruce Trevor Klein? 

 

MR KLEIN:   That is correct.  5 

 

MR RADICH:   You are the Team Leader, Compliance Solutions, Building 

System Performance Branch at the Ministry of Business Innovation and 

Employment? 

 10 

MR KLEIN:   That is correct.  

 

MR RADICH:   You’ve prepared a statement of evidence dated 20 March 

2015? 

 15 

MR KLEIN:   Yes. 

 

MR RADICH:   Are there any changes you would like to make to the wording 

of that evidence? 

 20 

MR KLEIN:   No, there are not. 

 

MR RADICH:   Do you confirm it to be true and correct? 

 

MR KLEIN:   It is true and correct. 25 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you. Please now would you provide a summary of your 

evidence for the Panel. 

 

  [12.05 pm] 30 

 

MR KLEIN:   My evidence addresses the related legislative regimes of the 

Building Act and the Building Code, the Resource Management Act 

and District Plans and their consistent, efficient and effective 

application and administration. 35 

 

 I support the deletion of life stage and energy efficiency standards from 

the Council’s revised version of Proposal 14 dated 9 March 2015, and I 

propose the removal of life stage and energy efficiency standards from 

the 26 March version of Proposal 14. 40 

 

 For the purposes of the Building Act include providing for the 

regulation of building work and the Performance Based Building Code 

states the minimum performance a building must achieve, rather than 

specifying how buildings are to be constructed. 45 
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 It is a regulatory regime that is flexible and facilitates innovation. 

 

 The Performance Based Building Code System allows homeowners to 

include the life stage energy awarded efficiency in their homes without 

them being mandatory.  The Building Code states what building work 5 

is and that it must comply with the Building Code, and it also provides 

in section 18 that no-one is required to comply with performance 

criteria additional to or more restricted than the performance criteria 

contained in the Building Code, unless there is an express provision to 

the contrary in an act. 10 

 

 The RMA has such a provision in section 76.2(a) in relation to 

protecting other property from the effects of surface water. 

 

 The administration of Lifemark and Homestar provisions in Proposal 15 

14 are as notified are unnecessary and add an unreasonable layer of 

complexity, delay and uncertainty to the process of obtaining building 

consent for work and vital to Christchurch’s housing market recovery. 

 

 Life stage energy award efficiency provisions within Proposal 14 as 20 

notified are incompatible with the Government’s objective to reduce 

red tape and compliance costs and that increase the cost of housing. 

 

 The requirements of life stage energy award efficiency initiatives in 

Proposal 14 as notified, go beyond the performance criteria of the 25 

Building Code, hence creating practical problems when dealing with 

matters by way of Resource Management Act processes. 

 

 Council’s ethos should be directed towards promoting life stage energy 

award efficiency initiatives and providing information on possible 30 

options to suit individuals that are relevant to their environment and 

personal circumstances. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Dr Mitchell. 

 35 

DR MITCHELL:   No, I have no questions, thank you, sir. 

 

MS DAWSON:   No questions thank you, Mr Klein.   

 

SJH:   Mr Sax. 40 

 

MR SAX:   No questions, thank you. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, thank you, sir. 

 45 

SJH:   Thank you very much, Mr Klein, you may stand down. 
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<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.08 pm] 

 

MR RADICH:   I call Mr Merry. 

 5 

<ALAN DERMOT MERRY, affirmed [12.08 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR RADICH [12.08 pm] 

 

MR RADICH:   Your full name is Alan Dermot Merry? 

 

MR MERRY:   That is correct. 5 

 

MR RADICH:   And you are the Manager - Strategic Redevelopment of the 

New Zealand Fire Service? 

 

MR MERRY:   That is correct. 10 

 

MR RADICH:   And your statement of evidence is dated 20 March 2015? 

 

MR MERRY:   That is correct. 

 15 

MR RADICH:   And do you have any corrections you wish to make to its 

wording? 

 

MR MERRY:   No, I do not. 

 20 

MR RADICH:   And do you confirm it to be true and correct? 

 

MR MERRY:   I do. 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you, please now would you provide a summary of your 25 

evidence for the Panel. 

 

MR MERRY:   Good afternoon Panel members.   

 

 My evidence relates to matters in part C of the Crown’s submission on 30 

Proposal 14 Residential relevant to the New Zealand Fire Service 

Commission, ‘the Commission’, and the New Zealand Fire Service, 

‘the Fire Service’. 

 

 In terms of the need for five stations in residential zones. 35 

 

 Following extensive analysis work post-earthquakes, the Commission 

determined that seven new fire stations are required for Christchurch.  

Three of these are to be built on existing sites, four will be built on new 

sites of which two fall in residential zones. 40 

 

 The positioning of these new stations must be done to meet or exceed 

Fire Service’s National Service Delivery Guidelines and respond to the 

changing risk profile of Christchurch.  

 45 
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 As a result, some fire stations must be placed within the residential 

zone to enable the overall fire station network to operate as effectively 

as possible and meets the future demands of the city. 

 

  [12.10 pm] 5 

 

 In terms of why fire stations should be a permitted activity in the 

residential zone: The fire service has a national set of design guidelines 

every new fire station must meet.  Fire stations are necessary to allow 

the Fire Service to respond to emergencies in the surrounding 10 

residential areas and is part of the wider network.  For example, 

backing up other fire stations and sending additional resources to lager 

emergencies. 

 

 Fire stations provide an essential emergency service and objective 15 

3.3.13, Emergency Services and Public Safety of the Strategic 

Directions Decision supports the recovery and provision for 

comprehensive emergency services throughout the city. 

 

 In terms of why there should be reference to the firefighting water 20 

supplies code of practice in the built form standards, the provision of 

firefighting water is not specifically referred to in any current building 

legislation. The Building Code, clause C5, Access and Safety for 

Firefighting Operations and G12, Water Supplies, does not cover 

provision of firefighting water. 25 

 

 It is vital to get access to water when fighting a fire, to protect life and 

property. It is vital to have sufficient access to properties in order to 

fight fire and attend other emergencies.  Failure to have access to water 

can directly impact on the safety of both building occupants and 30 

firefighters. 

 

 Recognition of the firefighting water supplies code in the district plan 

provides an assurance that if there is a fire, the fire service will have 

sufficient water resources and vehicle access to protect life and 35 

property, and objective 3.3.13, Emergency Services and Public Safety 

of the Strategic Directions Decision, includes provision for the water 

required for firefighting. 

 

 I am now happy to take any questions you may have. 40 

 

SJH:   Thank you. Dr Mitchell? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   No thank you, sir, I do not have any questions, that is clear. 

 45 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 
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MS DAWSON:   No, no thank you, Mr Merry. 

 

SJH:   Mr Sax? 

 5 

MR SAX:   No questions thank you, sir. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No thanks, Mr Chairman. 

 

SJH:   Thank you – I am sorry, there is nothing arising from no questions, so 10 

Mr Merry, thank you, you may stand down - - -  

 

MR MERRY:   Thank you, your honour. 

 

SJH:   - - - and you may be released. 15 

 

MR MERRAY:   Thank you. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.12 pm] 

 20 

MR RADICH:   Thank you, sir, I call Ms McLeod. 

 

<AINSLEY MCLEOD, sworn [12.12 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR RADICH [12.12 pm] 

 

MR RADICH:   Now your full name is Ainsley Jean McLeod? 

 

MS MCLEOD:   Yes. 5 

 

MR RADICH:   And you are a Technical Director, Planning at Becca Limited 

in Christchurch? 

 

MS MCLEOD:   Yes. 10 

 

MR RADICH:   And you have a statement of evidence dated 20 March 2015? 

 

MS MCLEOD:   Yes. 

 15 

MR RADICH:   You wish to make any changes to its wording? 

 

MS MCLEOD:   No. 

 

MR RADICH:   And you confirm it to be true and correct? 20 

 

MS MCLEOD:   Yes. 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you, please now would you provide a summary of your 

evidence to the Panel. 25 

 

MS MCLEOD:   Thank you.  My evidence addresses the elements of part C of 

the Crown’s submission that identified as being of particular interest to 

the New Zealand Fire Service Commission. 

 30 

 In this regard the Crown submission on proposal 14 can be summarised 

as seeking a policy approach that appropriately provides for non-

residential activities, in particular community facilities such as fire 

stations in residential zones. 

 35 

 It seeks the retention of permitted activity status for emergency service 

training facilities in residential zones, a permitted activity status for fire 

stations in all residential zones and the retention with some small 

amendments to the built form standards that require the provision for 

firefighting water supply. 40 

 

 Minor amendments to the definition of community facility and 

residential activities are also sought. 

 

 My evidence acknowledges the dialogue that has occurred with the 45 

Council prior to notification of the Replacement Plan and particularly 
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over the last month. This includes formal mediation on 18 March and 

subsequent conversations between a number of planners in relation to 

objectives and policies that address non-residential activities and 

community facilities. 

 5 

 My evidence considers the relief sought by the Crown, including 

against the 9 March version of proposal 14 and also considers the 

decisions made by the Panel on Strategic Directions and Outcomes. 

 

 I now wish to briefly traverse my opinion on these matters with 10 

reference to the Council’s rebuttal evidence, including the Council’s 26 

March version of proposal 14. 

 

 In terms of the objectives and policies the Crown submission seeks 

amendments to recognise the necessity of and provide for non-15 

residential activities and community facilities in residential zones. 

 

  [12.15 pm] 

 

 The 26 March version of objective 14.1.7 along with the associated 20 

policies reflects the outcomes of mediation and subsequent dialogue 

between a number of parties.   

 

 I am generally supportive of the 26 March version of the objectives and 

policies.  It is my opinion that these provisions are consistent with and 25 

implement objectives 3.3.11 and 3.3.13 in the strategic directions 

decision and better achieve the purpose of the Act. 

 

 That said I also suggest two minor amendments to these provisions and 

these are the deletion of the word “local” from the heading of policy 30 

14.1.7.2 and the replacement of the clause “outside of brownfield sites” 

referenced in the headings of all of the provisions that relate to non-

residential activities and rather than be replaced with a note that directs 

plan users to the new brownfields’ objective and policies.  I think this 

was traversed yesterday. 35 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you. 

 

MS McLEOD:  In terms of the provisions for Fire Stations the 26 March 

version of proposal 14 records agreement reached between the Council, 40 

the Fire Service Commission and the Order of St John in relation to the 

provision of emergency service facilities in residential zones. The 

parties have agreed that emergency service facilities should be 

permitted activities across all residential zones.   

 45 
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 In my evidence I support this agreed approach for a number of reasons 

including because the rules recognise the need for Fire Stations to 

locate in residential areas, they enable adverse effects of Fire Stations 

to be managed through the built form standards and they are the most 

appropriate way to achieve the relevant objectives in the strategic 5 

directions’ decision. 

 

 I support the amended provisions related to built form standards for 

firefighting water supply that are now included in the rebuttal version 

as well.  Mr Macleod for the Council has agreed with this in his 10 

rebuttal evidence. 

 

 Mr Phillips for Oakvale Farm Limited and Maurice R Carter Limited 

has sought the deletion of the firefighting water supply built form 

standard as it applies to the new neighbourhood zones only. The 15 

reasons given by Mr Phillips in summary is that the water supply is 

prescribed through the Council’s infrastructure design standards and 

the building code.   

 

 I don’t agree with Mr Phillips for a number of reasons set out in my 20 

rebuttal evidence including the fact that relying on the infrastructure 

design standard does not address land use changes where there is no 

subdivision. The building code doesn’t provide for firefighting water 

supply.  There is no particular reason given for deleting the standard 

only from the new neighbourhood zones and objective 13.1.13 clearly 25 

seeks that the replacement plan provides for necessary access and water 

for firefighting. 

 

 Mr Phillips appears to accept that firefighting water should be provided 

and I consider that including the code of practice in the built form 30 

standards provides a greater degree of clarity for plan users. 

 

 As a final matter, my evidence has also noted that the definition of 

residential activity might inadvertently capture Fire Stations given the 

accommodation component that they include. This may serve to 35 

confuse activity status and I have suggested a limited amendments to 

the definition to clarify this.  This amendment does not appear to have 

been addressed in the Council’s rebuttal evidence or the 26 March 

version of proposal 14. 

 40 

 Subject to this minor amendment it is my opinion that the amendments 

to proposal 14, as set out in the 26 March version, appropriately 

address the outcomes sought by the Commission and as such better 

achieve the purpose of the Act and implement objective 13.3 of 3.3.13, 

the strategic directions decision. 45 
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SJH:   Thank you.  Dr Mitchell? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   No, I have no questions, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 5 

 

MS DAWSON:   No, no questions, thank you, Ms McLeod. 

 

SJH:   Mr Sax? 

 10 

MR SAX:  Yes, just a quick question, who should be policeman and/or 

watchdog on the built form standards bearing in mind that if we are 

looking at the most efficient and economic use there are probably – and 

I am not familiar with the built form standards – but there are probably 

going to be other options that may be very viable and provide the 15 

necessary water? 

 

MS McLEOD:   The firefighting water supply code of practice includes a lot of 

flexibility.  What the built form standard achieved is it is an early 

notice.  When you seek a consent or consider whether your activity is 20 

permitted you need to think about firefighting water supply and the 

reality is the built form standard gives people the opportunity to very 

quickly and easily understand that it is something they need to 

contemplate and typically achieve. 

 25 

MR SAX:   Thank you, no further questions. 

 

SJH:   Judge? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No, thank you, Mr Chairman. 30 

 

SJH:   Anything arising from that? 

 

MR RADICH:   No, thank you, sir. 

 35 

SJH:   Thank you, Ms McLeod, you may stand down and you may be released.  

Yes, thank you, Mr Radich. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.20 pm] 

 40 

  [12.20 pm] 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you, sir, I wonder if we can adjust the order ever so 

slightly and call Ms Barker. There’s no one down to cross examine her 

at the moment. Is that acceptable? 45 
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SJH:   Yes. 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you very much. 

 

<MS VICKY ANN BARKER, affirmed [12.20 pm] 5 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR RADICH [12.20 pm] 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you. Your full name is Vicky Ann BARKER? 

 

MS BARKER:   That’s correct. 5 

 

MR RADICH:  And you’re the Managing Director or Barker Planning in 

Christchurch? 

 

MS BARKER:   That’s correct. 10 

 

MR RADICH:  And Ms Barker you’ve given a statement of evidence dated the 

20th of March 2015? 

 

MS BARKER:   Yes. 15 

 

MR RADICH:  Do you have any changes that you wish to make to its 

wording? 

 

MS BARKER:   No. 20 

 

MR RADICH:   And do you confirm it to be true and correct? 

 

MS BARKER:   Yes, I do. 

 25 

MR RADICH:   Thank you, would you now please provide a summary of your 

evidence for the Panel? 

 

MS BARKER:   Thank you. Good afternoon, Panel. My evidence addresses the 

provisions relevant to non-residential activities and facilities in the 30 

residential zones. A key high level objective of the Crown is to enable 

the rebuilding of community facilities for the recovery of greater 

Christchurch, hence the importance of the non-residential provisions. 

The strategic directions decision recognises the importance of such 

facilities and included objective 3.3.11. A further key objective of the 35 

Crown is to provide greater certainty and flexibility for community 

facilities to establish and operate.  

 

 At this point I want to specifically mention the willingness of the 

Council to enter into informal discussions and work through the 40 

Crown’s issues with drafting. Through these discussions and a 

constructive mediation, most of the Crown’s submission points have 

now been addressed and there are only a handful of matters 

outstanding.  

 45 
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 I will now focus on the matters I consider to be outstanding and I note 

that these points of the difference are also contained in Exhibit 5 that 

Mr Radich submitted yesterday. 

 

 I support the amendments made to objective 14.1.7 and the associated 5 

policies contained in Mr Ayres (ph 2.19) 26th of March version, but 

with three minor exceptions. So as Ms McLeod just mentioned, the 

Council has added the wording outside of bounty on sites to the title of 

objective 14.1.7 and rather than amending each heading, I suggest a 

note be added below objective 14.1.7. 10 

 

 The second point is the title of policy 14.1.7.2 in the Council’s 26th of 

March version. This still references local community facilities and 

services. As a result of mediation, the title was changed to community 

activities and facilities, so this appears to be a simple transcription 15 

error. 

 

 The Council has also included policy 14.1.7.2(a) in its 26th of March 

version. This was an earlier suggestion by the Crown which the parties 

to mediation consider can now be deleted. 20 

 

 Since receiving Mr Blair’s rebuttal evidence, the mediation parties also 

attempted to enter into discussions with Transpower, the oil companies 

and Christchurch International Airport Limited regarding the objectives 

and policies. Ms McLeod for Transpower advised she is broadly 25 

comfortable with the 26th of March objective, subject to relatively 

minor potential wording changes. Ms Blair for the oil companies 

provided further revisions to the mediated version. However, no 

agreement was able to b reached with Ms Blair in the available time 

frame. And I also agree with Mr Blair from the Council at paragraphs 30 

21.2 and 21.3 that the mediated version of objective 14.1.7 broadly 

addresses Ms Blair’s concerns, in any case. No response was received 

from Christchurch International Airport Limited. 

 

 In my opinion, the rules applicable to home occupations are too 35 

prescriptive and greater flexibility is required to better enable those 

seeking to conduct home businesses. It is recognised residential 

amenity is an important consideration, but a better balance could be 

found. I have recommended changes to the rules, as outlined in the 

appendix to my evidence in chief. These changes have not been 40 

addressed by Mr Blair in his evidence or his rebuttal.  

 

 It is of note that community welfare facilities and community 

corrections’ facilities are provided for as restricted discretionary 

activities in all of the zones, but they are also provided for as 45 
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discretionary activities in three of the zones. This appears to be a minor 

drafting error. 

 

  [12.25 pm] 

 5 

 

 Amendments to existing definitions and new definitions sought by the 

Crown are supported by Mr Blair, subject to very minor wording 

changes. 

 10 

 So overall the majority of the Crown’s relief has been accepted and 

most of the matters appear to be drafting errors rather than any major 

disagreement in principle, with the exception of the home occupation 

rule, which does not appear to have been addressed by Mr Blair. 

 15 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MR SAX:  Thank you, just one brief question. A little unclear, welfare or 

activities that are ancillary to urban communities, are they permitted or 

intended to be permitted? 20 

 

MS BARKER:   There have been changes to the definitions to accept ancillary 

activities as well. But in terms of the community welfare definition, 

that’s specifically for the likes of providing for counselling services, 

Citizen’s Advice Bureau, those kind of activities that would typically 25 

look to locate in a residential zone. So that’s covered by the community 

welfare definition and the rules that have been put into the changes. 

 

SJH:   I think there is reference to community advice. Was it your evidence that 

referred to legal aid? 30 

 

MS BARKER:   Yes. 

 

SJH:   Because you wouldn’t find legal aid in the community. It’s community 

advice centres and community law offices, you mean. 35 

 

MS BARKER:   That’s probably a more accurate description, yes. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. Thank you very much, Ms Blair, you may stand down and 

are free to go. 40 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [12.26 pm] 

 

MR RADICH:   Your honour, we’re at a point where I’m afraid to say, I know 

there’s no excuse for this, but witnesses were looking at the second to 45 
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last version of the schedule, which had the lunch break at this point, 

and so we’ve reached a point where someone is - - - 

 

SJH:   Did nobody notify them this morning? 

 5 

MR RADICH:   The understanding error has only just been brought to our 

attention, we were working off the paper copy rather than the website, 

sir, and, as I say, there’s no excuse for that, but that is the position we 

are in, where the other witnesses are all ready, but they are on their way 

now. 10 

 

SJH:   Well, they’re not ready, they’re not here. 

 

MR RADICH:   No, sir, they’re not. 

 15 

SJH:   And they were listed to be here. McCallum-Clark was listed at 12.10, 

Ms Taitua was listed for 12.30. 

 

MR RADICH:   Yes, I can only say we were working off the paper copy that 

we received. And I apologise for not looking at the website. 20 

 

SJH:   All right, we’ll take the luncheon adjournment at this stage, but can you 

make sure that you check in the morning, the latest copy, and manage 

this, please. 

 25 

MR RADICH:   Yes, I will, sir, my apologies. 

 

SJH:   We did certainly speed up, but it was a downhill run, it has to be said. 

 

ADJOURNED [12.29 pm] 30 
 

RESUMED [1.02 pm] 

 

SJH:   Yes, thank you. 

 35 

MR RADICH:   Yes, sir, I call Mr McCallum-Clark. 

 

<MATTHEW McCALLUM-CLARK, affirmed  [1.02 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR RADICH [1.02 pm] 

 

MR RADICH:  Your full name is Matthew Eaton Arthur McCallum-Clark? 

 

MR MCCALLUM-CLARK:  That is correct. 5 

 

MR RADICH:  And you are a resource management consultant and you are a 

director of the firm Insight? 

 

MR MCCALLUM-CLARK:  That is correct. 10 

 

MR RADICH:  And you have given a statement of evidence dated 20 March 

2015? 

 

MR MCCALLUM-CLARK:   I have. 15 

 

MR RADICH:  And you have no amendments you wish to make to that 

statement? 

 

MR MCCALLUM-CLARK:   No amendments. 20 

 

MR RADICH:   And you confirm it to be true and correct? 

 

MR MCCALLUM-CLARK:   I do. 

 25 

MR RADICH:   Thank you. Please would you provide a summary of your 

evidence for the Panel? 

 

MR MCCALLUM-CLARK:  This summary is of planning evidence lodged on 

behalf of the Crown and the Ministry of Education, in particular on 30 

Proposal 14 and its associated definitions in the Christchurch 

Replacement Plan. My evidence is brief and focuses on areas of 

specific interest to the Ministry of Education that are not otherwise 

addressed in the evidence of other Crown witnesses. 

 35 

 In particular I rely on the evidence of Vicky Barker who addresses the 

need for community activities in the residential zones and the 

broadening and refining of the community activities definition.  I also 

note that Vicky Barker has been involved in ongoing discussions with 

Council which has resulted in further refinements of the City Council’s 40 

position on Proposal 14. 

 

 Agreement has been reached between the Council and the Crown on a 

number of matters of interest to the Ministry of Education. These 

agreements are recorded in the City Council provision of Proposal 14 45 

as attached to Mr Scott Blair’s evidence and served on 26 March 2015. 
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 In particular, the suggested alterations to the objectives and policies has 

largely made my paragraph 6.4 redundant. There are a small number of 

remaining issues relating to the definition of “education activities”, 

“early childhood education activities” and consistency amongst the 5 

rules. These issues have not been addressed in Mr Scott Blair’s rebuttal 

evidence or in the further refinement of the City Council’s track 

changes version of Proposal 14. 

 

  [1.05 pm] 10 

 

 I have read the late evidence of Ms Laura Buttermore for the University 

of Canterbury and agree with her reasoning and conclusions with 

respect to her preference not to delete “boarding and residential 

activities” from the educational activities definition. 15 

 

 Overall and with the exception of the retention of boarding and 

residential activities in the education activities definition, I maintain my 

opinion that the changes suggested in my evidence are appropriate and 

would be useful improvements to the Replacement Plan. 20 

 

 Thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. Dr Mitchell? 

 25 

DR MITCHELL:   No thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Just one quick question, thank you, Mr McCallum-Clark, the 30 

additional changes that you consider are still necessary, the definitions, 

are they included in Ms McIntyre's table of changes for the Crown? 

 

MR MCCALLUM-CLARK:  Yes, ma'am. 

 35 

MS DAWSON:   That is helpful, thank you, and it is right on place, thank you 

very much. 

 

SJH:   Mr Sax? 

 40 

MR SAX:   Yes, just one question, in terms of activities, educational activities, 

I understand you are working for the Ministry of Education in this 

particular case, but charter schools and all sorts of other forms of 

education that are now starting to emerge, would definitions need to be 

widened in your view to encapsulate other forms of training 45 
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development, which may even go down to personal development 

programmes, initiatives and community? 

 

MR MCCALLUM-CLARK:  My view is that the education activity is quite 

broad, the definition is quite broad. It relates to the concept of 5 

education, it does not define who might be providing it. 

 

MR SAX:   Thank you, sir, no further questions. 

 

SJH:   Judge? 10 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No thank you, Mr Chairman. 

 

SJH:   Anything Mr Radich? 

 15 

MR RADICH:   No thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr McCallum-Clark, you may stand down and you may be 

released. 

 20 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [1.07 pm] 

 

MR RADICH:   Call Ms Taitua. 

 

<LISA MOANA TAITUA, affirmed [1.07 pm] 25 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR RADICH [1.07 pm] 

 

MR RADICH:   Your full name is Lisa Moana Taitua? 

 

MS TAITUA:   That is correct. 5 

 

MR RADICH:  And you are the District Manager - Community Probation 

Canterbury with the Department of Corrections? 

 

MS TAITUA:   That is correct. 10 

 

MR RADICH:  Ms Taitua, you have given a statement of evidence that is dated 

20 March 2015?  There are no corrections you wish to make to it? 

 

MS TAITUA:   No. 15 

 

MR RADICH:   And you confirm it to be true and correct? 

 

MS TAITUA:   I do. 

 20 

MR RADICH:   Thank you, please now would you provide a summary of your 

evidence. 

 

MS TAITUA: Community Corrections’ facilities play an important role in 

providing for communities health, safety and wellbeing, as well is its 25 

responsibility under the Corrections Act 2004 for enforcing sentences 

and orders of the Criminal Court and Parole Board. 

 

 In meeting this responsibility the Department establishes and operates 

custodial and non-custodial Corrections’ facilities, each month the 30 

Department is allocated approximately 500 new people to be assessed 

and managed which equates to approximately 6,000 people annually. 

 

 The Canterbury district manages 3,699 sentences and orders in the 

community at any one time. With six non-custodial centres in 35 

Christchurch the combined sites handle upwards of 500 new offenders 

each month, working seven days per week to meet demand and the 

need for flexibility. There are 247 Department staff supporting the 

Community Corrections’ sites in the Canterbury district with 160 

offenders reporting in each day across Canterbury sites. The people 40 

refer to our sites reside mainly within Christchurch. 

 

 Community Corrections’ facilities must be flexible enough to suit the 

complex and differing needs of offenders who may arrange from first 

time offender with a short community sentence to the high risk 45 

offender just released from prison. 
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 The Department is working towards a safer system that takes victims 

into consideration while providing greater opportunities to manage 

offenders who pose the greatest risk. 

 5 

 Community worksites which usually form a part of Community 

Corrections’ sites provide for people sentenced to community work, 

which is unpaid work for non-profit organisations and community 

projects. Community work parties report to a community worksite 

where they are dispatched by van to undertake community work 10 

projects under the supervision of a community work supervisor. 

Alternatively they may be placed with an approved agency in the 

community to undertake and complete their community work hours. 

 

  [1.10 pm] 15 

 

 Since the earthquakes, the Department lost its Community Corrections 

Service Centre in the east which was located on Pages Road.  The east 

area of Christchurch represents a significant catchment area for which 

the Department has no facility for offenders to access directly.  In the 20 

interim, the Department is using the facility at Kingsley Street in 

Central Christchurch. 

 

 In locating Community Collections facilities the following matters need 

to be considered: accessible to the public using the facility and their 25 

family members as required, providing an environment that is 

conducive to the successful delivery of rehabilitation and educational 

programmes, geography of offenders, space for community work 

programmes as well as probation offices, where there is enough space 

to allow for community work along with probation officers work and 30 

programme facilities, and close to other government and non-

government agencies to enable working together.  

 

 The Department would consider all potentially suitable locations for a 

new Community Corrections site and such locations could be within a 35 

residential zone.  I am happy to take any questions. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Dr Mitchell? 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir, kia ora, Ms Taitua.  Just one question of 40 

clarification, you have used the terms custodial and non-custodial and I 

guess they have sort of a plain English meaning.  Is that the same 

meaning that you use when you use those terms? 

 

MS TAITUA:   Non-custodial are our Community Corrections sites, custodial 45 

are our prison settings. 
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DR MITCHELL:   So anything that is not a prison is defined as being non-

custodial? 

 

MS TAITUA:   Correct. 5 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you.  Thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson? 

 10 

MS DAWSON:   No questions, thank you, Ms Taitua. 

 

SJH:   Mr Sax? 

 

MR SAX:   Ms Taitua, good afternoon, just one quick one, in terms of 15 

definitions you made mention of not the profits, there are a big range of 

not-for-profits that help in this sort of area.  Are the definitions 

proposed wide enough to cover all the not-for-profits that you are 

aware of? 

 20 

MS TAITUA:   I would expect so, yes. 

 

MR SAX:   Thank you, no further questions. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   No thank you, Mr Chairman, that is very clear, thank you. 25 

 

SJH:   Thank you very much, you may stand down and you are free to go. 

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [1.12 pm] 

 30 

MR RADICH:   I call Ms McIntyre. 

 

<SANDRA JEAN MCINTYRE, affirmed [1.12 pm] 
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<EXAMINATION BY MR RADICH [1.12 pm] 

 

MR RADICH:   Your full name is Sandra Jean McIntyre? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 5 

 

MR RADICH:   And you are a Project Management Consultant with Schema 

Limited? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Planning and Project Management, yes. 10 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you, and you have given two statements of evidence to 

this hearing one dated 20 March and one dated 25 March 2015, have 

you not? 

 15 

MS MCINTYRE:   That is correct. 

 

MR RADICH:   Are there any chances you would like to make to the wording 

of either statement? 

 20 

MS MCINTYRE:   No. 

 

MR RADICH:   And you confirm them to be true and correct? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   I do, yes. 25 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you, just one housekeeping matter, Ms McIntyre, you 

will be referring I think during your evidence to a table you have 

prepared in relation to the new neighbourhood zone and its 

interrelationship with chapter 8. 30 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 

 

MR RADICH:   We might hand that out now just for ease of management, 

Your Honour, if we may, an allocated number. 35 

 

SJH:   Exhibit 6, thank you. 

 

EXHIBIT #6 – PLANNING EVIDENCE FOR CROWN – 

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL 40 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you, and just while that is happening for the record can 

we have you produce please the three exhibits, two of them are on the 

wall behind you so exhibit #1 and exhibit #2, the two maps through 

Boffa Miskell which you have arranged, and would you produce them, 45 

please. 
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MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 

 

MR RADICH:   And the third is the table of the differences between the Crown 

and the Council, that is exhibit #5, would you produce that? 5 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 

 

MR RADICH:   Thank you very much.  Please, would you now provide a 

summary of your evidence for the Panel. 10 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   My evidence deals with the Crown submissions seeking 

greater opportunities for increased housing supply and housing choice.  

A policy in regulatory framework supporting brownfield 

redevelopment, clearer and more workable provisions for 15 

comprehensive development in greenfield areas, reduction in the 

degree of prescription and complexity in rules and standards, 

simplification and improved focus in matters for discretion, and greater 

clarity generally. 

 20 

  [1.15 pm] 

 

 The Council has accepted many of the Crown’s requests on these and I 

will not go over those in any detail but I will highlight some key 

outstanding matters and particularly where there are matters that have 25 

arisen in the Council’s rebuttal version. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Firstly, increased housing supply through additional 30 

provision for medium density zoning in suitable areas.  

Mr Schellekens’ evidence which you have heard is that the residential 

capacity provided in the residential suburban and suburban density 

transition and medium density zone is likely to fall short of achieving 

Christchurch City’s share of the intensification target set by the LURP.  35 

At best, Mr Schellekens considers that the capacity might be just 

sufficient.   

 

 Mr Mitchell also discusses the importance of having housing supply 

available in advance of demand.  To provide for this I consider it would 40 

be prudent to identify additional land suitable for medium density 

residential development and to rezone this as part of the overall review 

of the District Plan. If the Council leaves any action until their 

monitoring shows an impending short fall as proposed by Mr Blair, I 

think it is unlikely that the normal plan change process will enable 45 

them to react as quickly as they need to.   
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 The location of further residential medium density zones should be 

guided by my recommended policy 14.1.1.1(a) , to ensure that the 

zones support existing commercial centres and that they are supported 

by community services and infrastructure.  5 

 

 Moving onto the new neighbourhood zones.  I support the principle of 

comprehensive subdivision and land use consent process that is 

provided for in these zones as a way to achieve well integrated 

developments, however, despite their incremental improvements that 10 

have been made and the amendments that have been recommended by 

the Council and other parties, I still have concerns about the 

workability and the clarity of those provisions.   

 

 In particular, I am concerned that the land use consent component of 15 

that comprehensive development path delves deeper than necessary or 

appropriate into the details of development of individual sites.  As well 

as imposing unnecessary constraints on the initial development of those 

sites that could impede ongoing development and redevelopment of 

residential activity. The reference to a lot development guide 20 

recommended by Mr Blair in his rebuttal evidence increases my 

concern.  In my opinion, the land use part of the consent should only 

prescribe as much detail as is needed to implement the neighbourhood 

plan.   

 25 

 The table that I have produced demonstrates what I consider to be the 

appropriate level of regulation in the subdivision and land use consent 

to achieve that.  And if I can just explain briefly what I have done, and 

this goes back to looking at the structural framework of the zone which 

is provided by the outlined development plan that is required by the 30 

Regional Policy Statement, and then moving down from there, what is 

the level of detail in implementing that that you would expect to see in 

a comprehensive subdivision consent that has land use aspects 

associated.  So the second two columns are what I think are the split 

between the subdivision consent matters and the land use consent 35 

matters.  The final column that I have got identifies what I think people 

should be able to rely on in terms of development of individual sites.   

 

 Essentially, what this framework provides for is that as well as 

subdivision containing the normal things you would expect a 40 

subdivision consent to contain, that there may be land use conditions 

that relate to situations in which the building typologies allocated in the 

subdivision cannot be accommodated by the zone standards in 14.6, 

and so there is a need for different conditions to be placed onto 

essentially in replacement of the built form standards in 14.6.  I do not 45 

believe they should get more detailed than that. 
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 In my opinion, it should not be necessary to prescribe floor plans and 

landscape design and matters such as verandas and decking as is 

suggested by the description of the lot development guide in the 

Council’s 26 March version.  Because of time constraints and because 5 

of the difficulty I have experienced in interpreting the new neighbour 

provisions in proposal 8, I have not attempted any redrafting to reflect 

the approach shown in this table.  Though I think it does need to 

happen. 

 10 

  [1.20 pm] 

 

 I do support the Crown’s submission though, that the assessment 

matters in 8.5.4 should be further streamlined in addition to the 

amendments shown in the Council’s 26 March version, by deletion of 15 

8.5.4.5 to 8.5.4.7 which relate, essentially, to building design type 

matters, and I have attached to the back of the table my recommended 

changes to the matters for discretion to do that. 

 

 Essentially, you will see that those three, 8.5.4.5 to 8.5.4.7 that I have 20 

struck through, relate largely to built form matters and I think that the 

matters that are in there are either adequately covered in the other 

assessment matters, or else they add a level of detail that is not 

appropriate in relation to the approach that I have described in the 

table. 25 

 

 Moving on to the matter of reduced prescriptiveness. 

 

 The Council’s 9 March revised version of Proposal 14, accepted many 

of the Crown’s requests to relax or remove restrictions in rules and 30 

standards. However, some of these recommendations have been 

reversed in the Council’s 26 March version because of Ms Sakin’s 

rebuttal evidence. 

 

 I note that Mr McIndoe’s rebuttal evidence differs from Ms Sakin’s in 35 

regard to some of the standards that I mention in my evidence. 

 

 In particular, I continue to be of the opinion that requirements for 

landscaping strips in the residential suburban and residential suburban 

density transition zones are unnecessary and unenforceable, and I note 40 

that Mr McIndoe agrees with my evidence on that. 

 

 I also consider that a simplified standard for height limits in the 

residential medium density zone would provide greater design 

flexibility.  Mr McIndoe agrees but echoes Ms Sakin’s concern that this 45 

could allow for poorly designed four storey developments. I 
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acknowledge this concern, and I suggest that it could be addressed 

quite simply by having a simple standard that limits buildings to three 

storeys rather than the standard relating to maximum height.  I do not 

think you need both. 

 5 

 Further matters in relation to simplification and the focus of matters for 

discretion. 

 

 My evidence recommends significant amendments to the matters for 

discretion. They are intended to make matters easier to read and to 10 

ensure that discretion is appropriately focused on the relevant effects.  

They also improve consistency with the matters for discretion in the 

Central City residential zone. 

 

 I have read Mr McIndoe’s analysis of the difference between my 15 

version of the urban design matter for discretion and the Council’s 

version. I agree with him that the approach in my version, which 

focuses on the outcomes to be achieved rather than the methods for 

achieving them, relies on appropriate expertise on the part of the 

Council officer reviewing the proposal, and I would expect a suitably 20 

experienced person to be filling this role. 

 

 I consider that there is a contrary risk method based approach 

recommended by the Council, that in the absence of an experienced 

officer, the approach could be applied by someone less experienced as 25 

a checklist for a de facto set of standards without a clear focus on the 

design outcome. 

 

 For this reason, I prefer an outcome focused approach, however, I agree 

with Mr McIndoe that there is potential for some further refinement of 30 

the wording in those. 

 

 I have also given some thought in a response to the Canterbury District 

Health Board’s submission and evidence to the merits of the matter for 

discretion allowing for relaxation of amenity standards in return for 35 

incorporation of life stage adaptive design measures. 

 

 However, I have concluded it would not be appropriate to do this 

because there is not a clear relationship between the effects on either 

side of this equation - that is the external amenity effects on one side 40 

versus the doing design type internal building design effects. 

 

 I also note that the Council’s 26 March version applies the discretion to 

a much wider range of activities than those suggested by the District 

Health Board, and I think there is a risk that it could be applied in a 45 

prescriptive way in which relaxation of a standard would only be 
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considered if life stage adaptive measures were included in the building 

design. 

 

 I prefer an approach relying on non-regulatory incentives to promote 

these measures. 5 

 

  [1.25 pm] 

 

 And lastly, just a few matters of general clarity, particularly in the 

policies. 10 

 

 The Council has generally accepted the Crown’s request for greater 

clarity in the objectives and policies, but there are a few outstanding 

matters in the 26 March version. 

 15 

 The first one is in relation to policy 14.1.1.1 which I identified in 

looking at Mr Brown’s evidence for Dannemora and preparing my 

rebuttal in relation to that, and looking at the final version of the policy, 

I recommend a minor redraft in clause 2 to clarify that the requirement 

for a net density of 30 households per hectare is intended to apply to 20 

intensification in existing urban areas, and not greenfield areas. 

 

 I think essentially, what has happened in the drafting of that policy, is 

that the word ‘existing’ has somehow got into the wrong part of the 

sentence, so it becomes a little confusing. I think that minor 25 

amendment would ensure that the policy is consistent with policy 6.3.7 

in the RPS.  

 

 In policy 14.1.5.1, I also note that the Council proposes to include 

reference to the Ngai Tahu urban design protocol, and I note that 30 

Mr Vial for Te Runanga O Ngai Tahu has noted that there is not any 

such protocol for the area covered by Proposal 14, so I agree with him 

that that should be removed. 

 

 I also note that in the 26 March version, the Council has not addressed 35 

the confusion that the Crown’s submission identified in policy 14.1.5, 

relating to landscaping Ngai Tahu cultural values. 

 

 Lastly, I just mention that I support Mr Macleod’s evidence that there 

is potential for significant further simplification of the structure of 40 

Proposal 14, and that there are various ways in which this could be 

done, the most obvious being removing duplication between similar 

provisions, but I think there are all sorts of other creative ways you 

could do it as well.  

 45 

 Thank you. 



 Page 402 

  

Ch14: Residential (Part) Commenced 31.03.15 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Scott. 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS SCOTT [1.27 pm] 

 5 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you.  Good afternoon, Ms McIntyre.  Thank you for your 

evidence and also for your helpful suggestions that have helped the 

Crown and the Council get much closer together, particularly in terms 

of the content of the Plan.  I understand there are still some concerns 

that you have. 10 

 

 In terms of your evidence-in-chief, I am just going to put to one side 

the matters that are now agreed, and also you have just referred to in 

your summary, the points of difference, which is exhibit 5, Mr Blair is 

making his way through them and he does agree to a number of your 15 

further suggestions.  And I just want to record, sir, that that will be 

coming to you, you asked for that information on Mr Blair’s position 

on those. 

 

SJH:   Thank you. 20 

 

MS SCOTT:   I will just start by working through the Higher Order documents 

that are relevant to the proportion of growth that is anticipated, or the 

target for Christchurch City. 

 25 

 In your evidence you go through this in section 7 and referring first to 

the Land Use Recovery Plan and the Regional Policy Statement. 

 

 There has been some discussion about the term ‘significant proportion’ 

and those words come from the principal reasons and explanation to 30 

objective 6.2.2, do they not? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   In part, yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And that objective sets targets for the contribution of infill and 35 

intensification as a proportion of overall growth? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes, that is correct. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And would you agree that objective 6.2.2 is reasonably explicit 40 

in terms of what it directs? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   It directs a specific number – sorry, it directs the specific 

proportions, that is right. 

 45 
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MS SCOTT:   Yes, you will understand that these objectives and policies came 

into the RPS via direction of the Minister? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   That is correct. 

 5 

MS SCOTT:   And the Minister went to the effort to set targets for 

intensification as a proportion of overall growth compared to 

greenfields across greater Christchurch and at 6.2.2(2), he went to the 

extent of saying that all three local authorities provide for higher 

density living environments including mixed use developments and a 10 

greater range of housing types, particularly in and around the central 

city and in around Key Activity Centres, larger neighbourhood centres 

and in greenfield priority areas. 

 

  [1.30 pm] 15 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   That is correct. 

 

MS SCOTT:   The Minister took the effort of explicitly stating this “but did not 

see it as necessary as taking the step further to include the 20 

intensification split in the objective”.  Would you agree with that? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   I could not tell you why the Minister decided that but yes, 

it has not been included, that is right. 

 25 

MS SCOTT:   Thank you.  In terms of interpreting plan provisions, you would 

accept that explanatory text is therefore guidance? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 

 30 

MS SCOTT:   And that the LURP also does not direct a significant proportion 

to the city? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   The LURP expresses an expectation that most of the 

intensification will happen in Christchurch city. 35 

 

MS SCOTT:   But that is not in the objective 6.2.2, is it not? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   No. 

 40 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, just quickly through some of the other relevant objectives 

and policies in the RPS, 6.2.5 is also of some relevance and directs that 

central city Key Activity Centres and neighbour centres are supported 

and maintained as the focal points for commercial community and 

service activities, do you agree that is relevant to intensification? 45 
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MS MCINTYRE:   Yes, I do. 

 

MS SCOTT:   In policy 6.3.1 sub-clause 3, it directs that both greenfield areas 

and existing suburban areas are enabled and are including 

intensification in appropriate places? 5 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And then finally, 6.3.7, which has more detail about 

intensification, in particular sub-clause 2, 3, and 4, the specific 10 

directions about intensification there. 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Including the target household units per hectare for Selwyn, 15 

Waimakariri and then separately Christchurch City.    

 

MS MCINTYRE:   That is correct. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Each of these objectives and policies have a clear and strong 20 

direction about location, do they not? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   They have some direction about location, they do not have 

full direction about where everything happens, but yes they do provide 

good direction. 25 

 

MS SCOTT:   And would you agree that the direction in 6.3.7 about directing 

intensification around Key Activity Centres is stronger than the reasons 

and explanation about the proportion of intensification within the 

central city because it is in the objective itself? 30 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes, but I would note added to that that the different 

intensities that are identified within the policy for Christchurch City 

and Selwyn and Waimakariri imply that there will be greater 

intensification in Christchurch City than in those areas - Selwyn and 35 

Waimakariri are not required to achieve 30 household units per hectare.   

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, I absolutely accept that, but overall I guess the Regional 

Policy Statement, would you agree, gives a discretion as to the target? 

 40 

MS MCINTYRE:   A discretion as to the way in which the target is achieved? 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes. 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 45 
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MS SCOTT:   And just finally in terms of referring to these documents, the 

LURP includes staged targets, and that is on page 18 if you want to 

refer to them, but it just directs 35 percent from 2013 to 2016, 45 

percent from 2016 to 2021 and finally 55 percent from 2021 to 2028, 

see that there? 5 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Would that suggest to you that the targets envisage a change in 

take up and provision later in the life span of the intensification targets? 10 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   My understanding is that the targets recognise that there is 

initially, in terms of meeting these ambitious targets some inertia to be 

overcome, and that is reflected in the fact that there is a lower 

percentage early on with an increasing percentage expected over time. 15 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes, and that comes from the evidence of Mr Schellekens, that 

there is a limited demand for intensification at the moment because of 

commercial and market reasons, would you agree with that? 

 20 

MS MCINTYRE:   In part that is right, what has happened traditionally and 

what people’s expectations are, yes. 

 

  [1.35 pm] 

 25 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, and circumstances where demand is limited, would you 

agree that the best way to give effect to the RPS is to enable 

intensification in areas that are most closely aligned with the regional 

policy statements directions? 

 30 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   And in recommending the policy about urban form criteria, 

which is the new policy that is in the Revised Chapter, would it be fair 

to say that one of the key drivers behind those filters is the higher order 35 

direction from the RPS to intensify around Key Activity Centres? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Key Activity Centres and larger neighbourhood centres, 

yes. 

 40 

MS SCOTT:   Yes.  At a very general level, in terms of the options that are 

available for the Panel, I think there are two possibilities in terms of 

where future RMD land could possibly be located, if the Panel decides 

that that is necessary.  The first is that there could be an expansion 

around existing KACs for large suburban centres.  And then the 45 

second, is that if someone comes to the Commercial Hearing and 



 Page 406 

  

Ch14: Residential (Part) Commenced 31.03.15 

makes the case that their set of commercial activities is in fact 

substantial enough to deserve a centre status, would you accept that the 

second option is a possibility? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   I would think that possibility is a little constrained, because 5 

the Key Activity Centres are specified in the LURP and the RPS.  I 

suppose there would be a possibility that someone would propose that 

another centre become a neighbourhood centre, that is certainly a 

possibility. 

 10 

MS SCOTT:   Yes.  So in terms of that approach, you would agree that there 

would need to be careful analysis of any centre to confirm that it 

conforms with the function criteria? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes.   15 

 

MS SCOTT:   Then logically the remaining criteria would then require 

consideration, which is the 800 metre distance criteria that is set out in 

the policy, including the open space criteria. 

 20 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Would you accept that the open space area would also need to 

be subject to a qualitative assessment to determine the identified 

qualified open space, as outlined in Mr Teesdale’s evidence? 25 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   I think to an extent, yes.  Well, in my opinion Christchurch 

is relatively well-served by open spaces and I think that that qualitative 

assessment is not so crucial in Christchurch as it might be in some 

other centres, but certainly to an extent you would want to ensure that it 30 

was a functional open space that people would be able to use for 

recreation. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, and I understand it is your evidence, that character areas 

are a further consideration that need to be worked through as well? 35 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   It is my evidence that if the character areas and what their 

affect and implications are, are a little uncertain at the moment, and that 

will need to be reviewed at the time that those make an appearance in a 

notified form.  40 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, and you understand that they are going to be notified in 

phase two, are now called “character areas”? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes.   45 
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MS SCOTT:   Yes, okay.  Then just finally, there is the areas of infrastructure, 

capacity, constraint – that would need to be taken into consideration, 

and finally, the Natural Hazards constraints.  I think that is a summary 

of all of the Urban Form criteria that need to be taken into account, so 

provided the location of the intensification meets the policy you have 5 

suggested, you would be comfortable that there would be no wider 

adverse effects? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   That is correct.   

 10 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, thank you.  Just a couple more questions, sir.  Putting to 

one side your lack of confidence in the Council to move forward with 

any change after this process, just as a matter of law, under the RMA, if 

a shortfall is identified in the future, regardless of the provisions that 

are set through this process, the Council can make more land available 15 

through a Plan change.   

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes, but the thing that I have particularly in my mind in 

relation to the timeframe for that, is that that would be subject to a right 

of appeal, so it would have to have the time for that process to go 20 

through as well.   

 

MS SCOTT:   Absolutely, so it would go through the schedule one RMA 

process. 

 25 

MS MCINTYRE:   That is right. 

 

MS SCOTT:   The new policy that you have proposed, and has been accepted 

by the Council in its Revised Chapter, that does give you some comfort 

in terms of where intensification would be targeted? 30 

 

  [1.40 pm] 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes, I mean I think if rezoning isn’t to happen in the near 

future I think it is important to have that guiding policy to ensure that it 35 

does happen in the appropriate location. 

 

MS SCOTT:   So one of the key concerns seems to be the difficulty of getting a 

plan change through under the normal RMA process? 

 40 

MS MCINTYRE:   One of my concerns is – I mean there is a delay in that and 

particularly in cases where re-zonings are being proposed and, you 

know, there are obviously going to be people affected by that change in 

rezoning.  The other concern I have when you get to relying on future 

plan changes is that future plan changes may also be proposed by 45 

people other than the Council. 
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 And certainly I think in terms of these matters of urban form it is 

advantageous for the Council to retain control of those plan changes 

rather than the city find itself in a situation where the form of the city is 

basically being developer led which can create some problems.  That is 5 

another reason why I think that that policy is really important to be put 

in because, in the event that developers saw that action was needed and 

that the Council hadn’t done its monitoring yet or for whatever reason 

hadn’t quite got to a plan change stage, then it would be important that 

there is a clear policy framework for any private plan changes to be 10 

considered in as well. 

 

MS SCOTT:  Yes, thank you, that is important.  Look, just moving along 

because I am conscious of time, were you here yesterday when my 

friend, Ms Appleyard, questioned Mr Blair about the Airport’s 15 

submission? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes, I was. 

 

MS SCOTT:   So you understand that the Airport are seeking that an activity 20 

standard be added to the relevant rules requiring that social and multi-

unit residential complexes are not located within the 55 air noise dBA? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes, I am aware of that. 

 25 

MS SCOTT:   Yesterday’s questioning focused on the achievement of policy 

6.3.5.4 of the RPS. 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 

 30 

MS SCOTT:   You have got that in front of you? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:   You cover this in your evidence and you come to the view that 35 

the Airport’s request would be inconsistent with 6.3.5.4 and also 

strategic directions 3.3.12B3. 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   That is correct. 

 40 

MS SCOTT:   Do you have anything to add to your written evidence on that? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:  Well, I think Mr Blair covered it well yesterday.  The other 

thing I would note in relation to this is that Ms Appleyard referred a lot 

to the fact that because the contour had been set at this – well, what I 45 

think commonly referred to as the outer control boundary had been set 
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at this 50 dBA Ldn level then implicitly there should be no provision for 

new development within that area.  

 

 I have some concern about that because it is inconsistent with the 

approach that has been taken in most, well, all the other district plans 5 

that I am aware of that address this issue around the country.  As I think 

Ms Appleyard noted that outer control boundary has been set at a lower 

noise level in Christchurch than other places and I think it is entirely 

reasonable to, you know, when you are looking at planning of new 

greenfield areas that if you have got the space to be able to direct 10 

greenfield development out of those areas then you should do so.   

 

 I don’t think there is a strong argument that you should restrict 

development within the existing urban areas at that level of noise, I 

think that is going significantly further than is standard practice around 15 

the country. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Do you have a view on what the words “existing residentially 

zoned” mean in that objective? 

 20 

MS MCINTYRE:   I think those are fairly clear, they are the areas which are 

covered by existing residential zones. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, thank you.  Look, just a couple of changes in exhibit 5 

that you have suggested, just on page 2 you mentioned in your 25 

summary policy 14.1.5.5.  Would you be satisfied if that was to read, 

and I am adding the words “and enhance” in, “Maintain and enhance 

landscape and Ngāi Tahu cultural values through development”? 

 

  [1.45 pm] 30 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes, my concern with this policy was that the policy, the 

way it was worded, was referring to the primary outcome of the policy 

as being high quality residential character and amenity rather than the 

maintenance and/or enhancement of the landscape and cultural values.  35 

So my concern is with that confusion rather than anything else so I 

would be happy with that, yes. 

 

MS SCOTT:  Okay, thank you.  And just over the page, just quickly, home 

occupation rules, you have suggested under A that 40 square metres be 40 

deleted and replaced with the words “one-third of the total building and 

outdoor storage area combined”.  Would you agree that it is easier to 

measure 40 square metres than calculate one-third of the total building 

and outdoor storage area? 

 45 
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MS MCINTYRE:  Yes, I would, I note though that the matter of home 

occupations is not a matter that I have particularly looked at because 

Ms Barker was covering that matter. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, thank you.  And just at the bottom of the page at G, you 5 

have suggested the deletion of the references to Memorial Avenue and 

Fendalton Road and the requirement that there shall be no signage, and 

the explanation is that the wording and intent of clause G is unclear.  

What part of that are you concerned with in terms of it being unclear? 

 10 

MS MCINTYRE: That was another matter that I believe was part of 

Ms Barker’s evidence rather than mine. 

 

MS SCOTT:   Okay, that is fine, just, sorry, flicking through.  On page 6 rule 

14.2.3.4.2, the built form standards.  Just to be clear, in terms of the 15 

removal of that additional 5 percent allowance, that you are just 

seeking that for single storey buildings only? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:  The removal of the – you mean the difference between the 

extra - - - 20 

 

MS SCOTT:   Yes. 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   The extra allowance for multiple units is more important 

for single storeys definitely. 25 

 

MS SCOTT:  Okay, good, thank you.  I think that is all I have there, thank you, 

sir, thank you for the allowance. 

 

SJH:   Ms Appleyard? 30 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS APPLEYARD [1.47 pm] 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you, good afternoon.  Just picking up on some 

questions my friend, Ms Scott, just asked you about the 50 Ldn contour 35 

and your reference to what is done in other plans around the country.  

Have you ever been involved in an Airport noise contour case in a 

planning context? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Not an Airport noise contour, I have been involved in Port 40 

noise contour cases. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes.  Would you be aware that the adoption of the 50 Ldn 

dBA contour as the outer control boundary, that Christchurch is the 

only place where that has occurred? 45 
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MS MCINTYRE:   As far as I am aware it is the only place that it has 

occurred. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And the argument you have just put up that other plans 

around the country don’t go that far has not been accepted by any Court 5 

so far in relation to Christchurch Airport, has it? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   I am not saying that there is no reason why Christchurch 

should not have a different standard. 

 10 

MS APPLEYARD:   So what was the point of your reference to other - - - 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   My point is that if it is appropriate to have a different 

standard I don’t think it is necessarily the case that the restrictions that 

would apply at the higher level in other plans should be automatically 15 

applied at the lower noise level here.  My - - - 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   What is the purpose of your reference to other plans, what 

relevance is that to the Panel? 

 20 

MS MCINTYRE:   The other plans are based on the Port noise standard which 

suggests that within and in terms of the effects of noise, that between 

the 55 decibel Ldn contour and the 65 it is appropriate to mitigate the 

noise by acoustic insulation and that above that there should be 

restrictions on new noise sensitive activities.  25 

 

  [1.50 pm] 

 

 Now, the Christchurch situation sets the contour at 50 dBA so it seems 

to me odd that the noise environment is so different in Christchurch 30 

that you would automatically jump to restricting all new sensitive 

activities in existing areas at that lower level without going through the 

step through process now.  I mean there may be reasons for doing the 

different steps in different places, I have not looked at that in detail but 

that is why I referred to other plans, because it seems certainly on the 35 

face of it that the restrictions that the airport is asking for here are 

significantly out of step with practice around the country. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   So that argument has not been accepted in decades of 

litigation in Christchurch, has it not? 40 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   I could not answer that, I have not looked at all that. 

 

SJH:   Has there been litigation around this particular policy in the RPS? 

 45 
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MS APPLEYARD:   Not this particular policy but the argument about other 

plans not adopting the 50, specifically the argument that has been put 

up in every case is that no other - - - 

 

SJH:   Well I think your argument turns on the interpretation of that policy, 5 

does it not? 

 

MS APLPEYARD:   Yes, well that is actually what I am going to come to 

now.  Were you involved in the Regional Policy Statement 

development at all in any capacity? 10 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   No. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Okay, so your evidence is effectively based on your 

reading and solely on your reading of policy 6.3.5.4 and how that has 15 

also found its way until the Strategic Directions chapter? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   That is correct. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Would you agree with me that the policy, if we could 20 

have 6.3.5 up there, what we are saying here is an exemption from the 

avoidance, need to avoid.   

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 

 25 

MS APPLEYARD:   And I think we are agreed on that and that makes sense, 

does it not, because we are dealing with existing residential areas? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 

 30 

MS APPLEYARD:   And the definition of noise sensitive activities includes 

houses? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes, it does. 

 35 

MS APPLEYARD:   So a literal reading of that policy if you did not have the 

exception would have to take the houses out? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Well I do not think you would have to take houses out, I 

think you would have to not have new houses in. 40 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Okay, can you accept that there is a spectrum of 

avoidance at one end and complete intensification on the other? 
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MS MCINTYRE:   Well, I think given the question that you just asked I do not 

think the spectrum at one end ends with avoidance, I think it could go 

further to take out what was there.  But yes, there is a spectrum.   

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Okay, so if the Panel accept that they cannot avoid, the 5 

policy prohibits them from doing that, how and where are they going to 

land on what level of intensification other than complete avoidance 

would meet this policy? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Well, I think that depends really on an assessment of what 10 

the effects are and the extent of the effects.   

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Yes, so that was where I was coming to.  Where have the 

Crown assessed the effects in their evidence? 

 15 

MS MCINTYRE:   We have not done a detailed assessment of the evidence, 

we have just relied on the policy and how the consistency of that in 

terms of what is practiced elsewhere. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Sure, but the interpretation of the policy gets you off the 20 

starting point, there is not a complete avoidance but what evidence is 

going to get the Court to accept the cost and benefit analysis of the 

level of intensification that you are putting forward?  What evidence 

are they going to rely on? 

 25 

MS MCINTYRE:   I am not sure if you are suggesting that I should have done 

that detailed cost and benefit analysis, my evidence is pointing at the 

policy and it is on a policy basis. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Do you expect the evidence that there will be effects in 30 

terms of amenity? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   I accept that there could be effects in terms of amenity.  I 

am not certain how extreme those effects are. 

 35 

MS APPLEYARD:   Have you read the evidence of Mr Day. 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes, I have. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   And do you accept that there could be effects in terms of 40 

reverse sensitivity in terms of his evidence? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   I accept that he says there could - what I am not clear about 

is really what his evidence means in terms of the discussion of people 

who might be highly annoyed, because it is not clear to me what highly 45 

annoyed means, what the extent of that amenity effect is, so I have 
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some difficulty in trying to make an assessment of the extent to which 

that is going to result in reverse sensitivity effects.  I do not know if 

someone who is highly annoyed by noise is going to be ringing up the 

airport and demanding that they shut earlier in the evening or 

something, I do not have any sense of that. 5 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Okay, but there is no evidence being called by the Crown 

that anyone disagrees with the evidence of Mr Day, or indeed the 

economist called for the Airport on impacts of curfews, is there? 

 10 

  [1.55 pm] 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   We have not got any evidence on those matters, no. 

 

MS APPLEYARD:   Thank you.  I have no further questions. 15 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Mr Cleary? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR CLEARY [1.56 pm] 

 20 

MR CLEARY:   Thank you, sir. Good afternoon Panel members and 

Ms McIntyre. 

 

 Can I just perhaps preface my questions by just making a simple 

statement that Dannemora is just looking for some clear policy 25 

direction as in terms of residential intensification inside the Key 

Activity Centre for North Halswell and also in the residential new 

neighbourhood zone. And my friend, Ms Scott, Mr Radich, 

Mr Carranceja might object if I say I understand that the Council’s and 

the client’s position is that they do not oppose intensification within 30 

those areas? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   No, we do not.   

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes.  So we are effectively on the same page I think, so it is 35 

just a question I think perhaps of just some amendments perhaps to the 

policies.   

 

 But to start off, are you actually familiar with the North Halswell ODP 

and what is anticipated there? 40 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes.   

 

MR CLEARY:   So there are approximately 17 hectares, or possibly more, of 

commercial activity and plus approximately 50 - 60 hectares of 45 

residential new neighbourhood zone.  
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MS MCINTYRE:   Yes.   

 

MR CLEARY:   And would you accept that that is unique in the sense that we 

are talking about a greenfield new neighbourhood zone immediately 5 

adjacent to a greenfield Key Activity Centre? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes, but it is the only greenfield area that has been 

identified as a Key Activity Centre, yes.  

 10 

MR CLEARY:   Absolutely. And in terms of the policy for sort of high density 

or medium density intensification, that deals with existing commercial 

centres essentially, doesn’t it? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes, it does. 15 

 

MR CLEARY:   It does, okay, and so perhaps Halswell has sort of fallen 

through the cracks a little bit somewhat in terms of - there is no 

medium density zone identified for intensification adjacent to the KAC, 

that is correct? 20 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   That is correct, but I think the reason for that is that in the 

existing developed areas the zones that are around Key Activity 

Centres are essentially uniform density type zones, if I might say that.  

So you have your medium density zone which is at 30 households per 25 

hectare and you have your residential/suburban zone, which is at a 

lower density. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes. 

 30 

MS MCINTYRE:   In the greenfield situation, and including Halswell, the 

greenfield provisions, the provisions for the greenfield priority areas 

anticipate mixed density, as Dannemora is planning at Halswell.  So 

because those provisions allow for mixed density there is not that same 

necessary distinction between the area of the 30 households per hectare 35 

and that area of the 10 households per hectare.  

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay. So is it therefore your opinion that the policy 

provisions as they currently are provide enough direction to the users of 

the Plan like Dannemora as an applicant, and indeed consent planners, 40 

to make appropriate judgements as to the extent of intensification in the 

new neighbourhood zone? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   I believe so.  The policy provides for mixed density at a net 

of 15 households per hectare, and the assessment matters in relation to 45 
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the development of those greenfield areas include – well actually the 

policy for new neighbourhood areas - - - 

 

MR CLEARY:   I do not mean to interrupt you, but for the Panel’s benefit, 

perhaps if we could bring it up, it is policy 14.1.6.2, I think it is correct, 5 

from memory.  

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Thank you, Mr Cleary. 

 

MR CLEARY:   It is Mr Blair’s attachment A I think. 10 

 

  [2.00 pm] 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Do you want me to read it out? 

 15 

MR CLEARY:   Just so the Panel knows what we are talking about. 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   What that policy does is it provides for higher density 

housing being located to support commercial centres in the greenfield 

in the new neighbourhood areas, essentially it parallels the locational 20 

references in policy 14.1.1 and the existing areas that it has sort of a 

parallel direction for the new neighbour zones.   

 

MR CLEARY:   It says “ensure that some higher density housing is located to 

support and have ready access to commercial centres and public 25 

transport and to provide opportunities for walking and cycling and 

ready access to open space”.  So it says “some higher density 

anticipated in all residential greenfield and new neighbourhood zones”. 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes, and my understanding is that to achieve a 15 30 

households per hectare average, then you would need to have some 

higher density areas to balance off the lower density areas and this 

policy directs you towards having those areas around the commercial 

centre. 

 35 

MR CLEARY:   And you have accepted that Halswell, the new neighbourhood 

zone, is unique in the sense that it has been established adjacent to an 

emerging Key Activity Centre, and given the fact that it is unique, it is 

the only greenfield new neighbourhood zone that is adjacent to a KAC, 

I am asking you, would you not consider it appropriate from a planning 40 

perspective to have more policy direction than is in 14.1.6.2 as to 

where medium density or intensified development should locate? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   I am not sure what further direction you would need. 

 45 

MR CLEARY:   Well, some locational criteria? 
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MS MCINTYRE:   Similar to the ones that we have proposed for? 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, so I am suggesting perhaps an amendment to this 

14.1.6.2 which gives some clarity as to the location of intensified 5 

residential development adjacent to the Key Activity Centre? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   I would not oppose that. 

 

MR CLEARY:   You would not oppose that, okay. My witness for Dannemora, 10 

planning witness is on in a weeks’ time and perhaps I can have some 

discussion with my friends about if they are agreeable to an amendment 

along the lines we just discussed, perhaps we can put something before 

the Panel via Mr Brown then? 

 15 

SJH:   It is up to you to have the discussion, Mr Cleary. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, okay. Perhaps I do not need to ask this question but I 

will.  In terms of the policy 14.1.1.1, opposing distribution and density, 

that talks about medium residential development in and near 20 

commercial centres.  From the policy’s perspective, you would support 

residential development within the emerging Key Activity Centre, 

would you? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 25 

 

MR CLEARY:   I do not think there is any ambiguity about the word “in”, we 

just want to make sure that it will apply. 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   I think that would be consistent with the approach that is 30 

taken in other commercial centres. 

 

MR CLEARY:   I suppose my questions are what does “or near” mean, and 

that is the issue that is raised by Mr Brown in his evidence, but if we 

amend 14.1.6.2 I probably do not need to explore this but from a 35 

consented planner’s point of view, there might be a difference of 

opinion where you are not (INDISTINCT 4.53) accept to what the 

words “or near” mean? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   I can see that there might be, and perhaps the easy way to 40 

address that would be to have a cross-reference in 14.1.6.2 to the new 

policy 14.1.1.1A. 

 

  [2.05 pm] 

 45 

MR CLEARY:   Yes, okay. 
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MS MCINTYRE:   It ties those together. 

 

MR CLEARY:   Okay, I do not have any further questions. 

 5 

SJH:   Thank you. Mrs Broughton? 

 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS BROUGHTON [2.05 pm] 

 

MS BROUGHTON:   Yes, thank you, Your Honour and good afternoon Ms 10 

McIntyre.  First of all, I have got a technical issue from your first 

report.  In 7.15 you talk about an area that three submitters have 

discussed, that is the Riccarton-Wigram Community Board (I am 

Deputy Chairperson of that), the Riccarton Bush-Kilmarnock Residents 

Association ( I am not a member of that), and myself.  And the area 15 

that the three submitters overall discussed was a broader area than just 

between the commercial centre and the bush. 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Okay, I am sorry then. 

 20 

MS BROUGHTON:   Do you accept that? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   I will take your word for it. It was not evident from the 

submissions, but I am happy to be corrected. 

 25 

MS BROUGHTON:   Yes, I have been back to it and we did put through 

evidence from the Riccarton-Wigram Board on that.  So it is a much 

broader area that is of concern, thank you.  Just if I could turn now to 

your experience.  I note that you were contracted to CERA on the 

Replacement Plan since 2014. You particularly worked on the 30 

residential chapter. Have you been involved in any other work in 

Christchurch prior to this? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   I have done work in relation to Environment Canterbury 

and also worked for Ngai Tahu. 35 

 

MS BROUGHTON:   Okay, have you worked on issues which are suburban, or 

largely on broader issues? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   If you are asking, I have not been involved in resource 40 

consents in the residential areas of Christchurch, no. 

 

MS BROUGHTON:   Okay, thank you.  7.4 of your evidence indicates your 

basic premise is that areas zoned for medium density are not sufficient 

to meet intensification targets.  So if it was demonstrated that the 45 
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targets could be met, would you still argue for increased 

intensification? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   As I have said in my evidence, I do not think we are in an 

exercise just of providing X to meet Y.  Prudent planning suggests that 5 

you would need to plan in advance of the demand.  I also, having tried 

to grapple with the uncertainty there is around the figures, both in terms 

of growth and what the targets mean, I think there is such a level of 

uncertainty there that if you were to just aim to specifically meet a 

specified number, then you would not have certainty about being able 10 

to provide for all the demand.  I think it would be prudent to make sure 

that you essentially have more than enough. 

 

MS BROUGHTON:   Thank you. Turning to the current housing demand and 

supply, we probably agree that post-earthquake there was a severe 15 

housing shortage in Christchurch. From your understanding of recent 

figures, is there a current housing shortage? I am talking about 

currently. 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   I think probably Mr Mitchell or Mr Schellekens would 20 

have been able to comment on that better than me. 

 

MS BROUGHTON:   Okay, because if I can quote from the Deputy Prime 

Minister and the Minister of Finance, the Hon. Bill English, he said on 

the Question and Answer program on 15 March, and I will quote, and I 25 

can circulate this, Mr English said, “the supply of housing would soon 

meet demand in Christchurch but it would take longer to get the 

balance right in Auckland”.  

 

  [2.10 pm] 30 

 

 So he is saying that we are currently reasonable in supply and demand. 

Would you like to comment on that? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   I cannot comment on that.  I do not know where Mr 35 

English got his figures from so I do not have any basis for comment. 

 

MS BROUGHTON:   Okay, because a sense I have is that if he is correct, if we 

are currently reasonably in balance, I understand - - -  

 40 

SJH:   Sorry, Ms Broughton. This witness is a planner. There are expert 

witnesses that you did not apply to cross-examine on the issues you are 

now questioning on. 

 

MS BROUGHTON:   Okay, thank you. 45 
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SJH:   I am not sure, you can put the questions, but I think the answer you are 

going to get is that it is not within your area of expertise. 

 

MS BROUGHTON:   Okay, so I will leave that next one out.  On the issue of 

intensification, it seems to be very liked by, in fact, planners. Am I 5 

correct in that? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   I am not sure what you mean by “very liked by planners.” 

 

MS BROUGHTON:   Well, it seems to be a model that planners are 10 

comfortable with. 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   If you mean intensification as opposed to continual 

expansion outwards, then yes, I think you will probably find most 

planners think that that is a sensible approach. 15 

 

MS BROUGHTON:   Yes, and you may say here I should have questioned Mr 

Teesdale, but I would like your comment on this.  He has talked about 

how this has gone in Melbourne.  He has used a model from there.  I 

am asking you as a planner, the population of Melbourne is 4.25 20 

million, so can you transpose the model which is a Melbourne-based 

model here to Christchurch, which is a much smaller population? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   I do not know enough about the model that Mr Teesdale 

was looking at to be able to comment on that. 25 

 

MS BROUGHTON:   Okay, thank you.  I have got an issue just to clarify for 

my own purpose.  It is in your first submission of evidence, 14.2.2.1, 

page 18, your page 15. 

 30 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 

 

MS BROUGHTON:   I just want to clarify that what you are meaning here, 

particularly as it relates to Riccarton, there has been an acceptance by 

Council that people can build another house onsite and that if it is 35 

under 400-450, it could go there as of right.  Is that what you are saying 

here? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   What this proposed amendment to the standard does is 

means that if somebody is intending to use this infill mechanism and it 40 

is in the area which is subject to that constraint until, I understand, 

about 2020, then they cannot do that as a permitted activity until the 

work on the interceptor has been completed.  

 

 However, they can apply for a restricted discretionary consent and then 45 

the Council will do an assessment of that site and see whether there is 
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capacity, because my understanding from discussion with Ms O’Brien 

is that while there is an overall constraint there, there is some 

difference in the way that applies site to site.  So this standard would 

give the Council the ability to determine whether that was – whether 

the restriction is needed on that site or not. 5 

 

MS BROUGHTON:   Yes, so we are talking about two units. If someone 

applied for a third or fourth, would this be the same criteria, or would 

you expect it not to fit? 

 10 

MS MCINTYRE:   Well, I do not see why the Council could not make the 

same sort of assessment.  It would still require a consent and they could 

look at how much capacity there was. 

 

MS BROUGHTON:   Okay, thank you.  I presume you have read the LURP 15 

and the summary of that? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes, I was involved in editing the LURP, so I am 

reasonably familiar with it. 

 20 

  [2.15 pm] 

 

MS BROUGHTON:   Okay, thank you.  Are you aware in the summary it 

states that you look at intensification, but you do not want to destroy 

the character of existing neighbourhoods. 25 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Where are you referring to? 

 

MS BROUGHTON:   I did embark on a question here, sorry, I will just get 

that.  In the summary, it says, “Intensification measures change rules in 30 

the Christchurch City Plan to create opportunities to make more 

residential accommodation available quickly without changing the 

overall character of residential areas”. 

 

MS MCNTYRE:   Sorry, I am looking at the executive summary. 35 

 

MS BROUGHTON:   It is the summary, yes. 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   The executive summary? 

 40 

MS BROUGHTON:   I have a summary, I have not got the whole lot, I have 

just got a page.  Shall I send it through to you, because it may be that it 

is a document that was circulated to the public but it maybe has not 

come through. 

 45 



 Page 422 

  

Ch14: Residential (Part) Commenced 31.03.15 

SJH:   What is the question based on, at least get that out and it might be able 

to be answered. 

 

MS BROUGHTON:   It was basically, I guess, I wanted to ascertain if you had 

been aware of the LURP, and you have been heavily involved with the 5 

LURP, is what you are saying? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   I was involved with editing the LURP. 

 

MS BROUGHTON:   Editing the LURP, no that is fine.  I will leave it at that, 10 

thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Dr Mitchell. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Thank you, sir, good afternoon, Ms McIntyre.  I would just 15 

like to leave aside altogether issues of structure, repetition and drafting, 

because I think they have been well canvassed.  

 

 The only question of detail I do want to ask you about though is in 

relation to the information that you made available immediately before 20 

you gave evidence.   

 

 You have proposed some amendments to chapter 8 - - - 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 25 

 

DR MITCHELL:   - - - and this does not relate to a change that you have made, 

but it does interest me in terms of the drafting choice. 

 

 In section 8.5.4, there is a number of assessment matters that are set out 30 

under a set of individual topic headings, and, for example, under 

8.5.4.1, place making and content, it says whether the subdivision and 

allocation of building typologies, and then it has got 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 

8. 

 35 

 What is the purpose of 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8.  Are they meant to be 

matters that need to be achieved or are they matters that need to be 

weighed and balanced individually and collectively? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   I would see them as matters that need to be weighed and 40 

balanced and, you know, when you are looking at a new greenfield 

development, you are having to weigh up a whole lot of matters in 

relation to each other to achieve an overall good design. 
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DR MITCHELL:   Given that then, do you think that the use of the word 

‘whether’ is the right wording to use, and would it not be more 

appropriate to say, ‘the extent to which’? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes, I personally would use ‘the extent to which’, yes. 5 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Because it looks to me like it is a yes/no, and so you would 

go, tick, tick, tick, tick, tick, tick, cross on one of them - - - 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 10 

 

DR MITCHELL:   - - - and then automatically you then would not be 

whethering or not, you would be - - - 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes, I would normally use the ‘extent to which’, yes. 15 

 

DR MITCHELL:   You would agree with that, thank you. 

 

 I just want to ask you a couple of questions on matters of principle 

rather than on matters of detail. 20 

 

 This Plan the way it is drafted, has a default provision in all the zones 

that says anything that is not provided for or is permitted becomes an 

RDA which then becomes discretionary, and there is a catchall non-

complying activity rule which says if there is nothing else not 25 

mentioned, you become non-complying. 

 

 Given that this Plan is intended to be innovative and in turn, and to 

encourage innovation, do you think there is a risk that by having a list 

of things that are allowed and anything that is not contemplated 30 

essentially defaults to non-complying, we might be stifling innovative 

thinking? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes, I think that is a risk. 

 35 

DR MITCHELL:   And do you think that that catchall non-complying rule is 

therefore appropriate, and it might be more appropriate to make them, 

for example, discretionary - - - 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 40 

 

DR MITCHELL:   - - - so that they can be assessed on their merits?  

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes, I think it would be. 

 45 



 Page 424 

  

Ch14: Residential (Part) Commenced 31.03.15 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you.  The second matter, do you have a 

copy of Mr Blair’s attachment with you? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   I do. 

 5 

DR MITCHELL:   If I could refer you to section 14.3.3, just as a for instance, 

and that begins on page 95 of that document. 

 

  [2.20 pm] 

 10 

MS MCINTYRE:   Nearly at my second set of staples. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   I am not being specific about them, I am just wanting to use 

it as a for instance.  That is the built form standards - - - 

 15 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   - - - for the medium density zone.  Would you agree that 

some of those built form standards are more important than others? 

 20 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   Do you therefore think that, for example, that if we 

subdivided them into more important and less important, that 

something that ticked – some proposal that ticked all the boxes of the 25 

important ones, might well have a different activity status from one that 

only ticked a box on one of the less important ones? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   In principle, I think so, however, I am a little bit nervous of 

saying that is definitely the way I would do it because I am thinking 30 

about the, for example, the Operative Plan which uses that approach in 

a way in that it has development standards and critical standards and 

community standards, and those three different levels of standards have 

different implications in terms of - - - 

 35 

DR MITCHELL:   I understand, I am not necessarily saying that they could be 

codified in that way.  But let us say if a proposal, for example, met all 

the bulk and location, height in relation to boundary, recession planes, 

so on and so forth, and failed to tick the box on the transparency of the 

fence say. Under this Plan that would be a restricted discretionary 40 

activity. 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 
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DR MITCHELL:   Do you think that a mechanism that said if you ticked the 

boxes on certain key activities, that activity could be elevated to 

controlled activity status? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes I do. I was thinking about this yesterday actually.  I 5 

think – yes, I think there are certainly things like, as you say, the design 

of the fence or if there are to be landscaping standards, compliance 

with those matters, I think, I do not see why they could not be dealt 

with as a controlled activity. 

 10 

 However, I think when you start to undertake that assessment, you 

immediately start to ask yourself, well if it can be dealt with by a 

controlled activity, does it actually need consent at all and do we need 

that standard there.  So I think, you know, that would have to be part of 

the assessment in terms of determining that as well. 15 

 

 But I think certainly, in principle, that - - -  

 

DR MITCHELL:   So there is some scope to potentially explore that? 

 20 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 

 

DR MITCHELL:   And final question really, and it concerns the urban design 

principles that have been set out in section 14.9 of – I refer to Mr 

Blair’s numbering.  It seems to me, at least, that that is three pages of 25 

very subjective criteria that anything that is not a permitted activity in 

the medium density zone, needs to be assessed against.  And it also 

seems to me highly likely that because the activity status associated 

with the implementation of those provisions rests with the urban design 

and planning teams at the Council.  That is effectively a very big stick 30 

with which to mandate an internally derived set of values associated 

with those principles. 

 

 Do you agree with that? 

 35 

MS MCINTYRE:   I am concerned with the consolidation of all the assessment 

matters into those urban design matters that Mr Blair has done because, 

as you say, if somebody just, you know, does not comply with site 

coverage, then it immediately pushes them into that broader 

assessment.  I think that the urban design matters should be to do with 40 

those things that are larger in scale, for simple non-compliances, there 

should be quite clear assessment matters that are very clearly focused 

on those non-complying (INDISTINCT 4.24). 

 

DR MITCHELL:   I understand that point, but my point that I want your 45 

comment on is that - and they are on the screen in front of you – even 
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for something that is of a large scale, there is a huge amount of 

subjectivity in virtually every single one of those assessment criteria 

that will ultimately be determined by internal Council people, assuming 

that they do processing internally. 

 5 

 And given that degree of uncertainty, do you accept the proposition that 

they are an impediment to implementing intensification in the medium 

density zone in particular as drafted, and I am comparing that, for 

example, with the Central Christchurch provisions which have some of 

the same headline matters, but without the degree of A, B, C, D and so 10 

forth. 

 

  [2.25 pm] 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   I have a problem with the extent to which these assessment 15 

matters tend to focus on the methods for achieving the outcome in it 

because, yes, I do think that does potentially become very descriptive, 

it could potentially be applied by someone saying does it do this and 

this and this, and if it does not do one of those things then it does not 

happen.   20 

 

 I think as in the discussion about the new neighbourhood zones, I think 

that those urban design matters should be a matter of weighing and 

balancing the various aspects against each other and seeing what 

happens, and I think that this detailed approach does not encourage 25 

that, it does encourage a much more prescriptive - - - 

 

DR MITCHELL:   All right, thank you, that is helpful, thank you, sir, I have 

got no further questions. 

 30 

SJH:   Thank you.  Ms Dawson? 

 

MS DAWSON:   Thank you, Ms McIntyre.  Some of my questions have been 

covered in your discussion with Dr Mitchell which is helpful, thank 

you.  I just have one question, were you here yesterday when I talked 35 

with Mr Blair about the way the new neighbourhood zones 

comprehensive consent - - - 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes, I was. 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   So just so that I understand what you are intending in this 

table that you handed up today, where you are saying that the land use 

consent should be limited to the neighbourhood level. 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 45 
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MS DAWSON:   I just want to know what you intend the land use consent 

would be for in these chapter 8 rules that you are proposing? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   As an example, and I have struggled a lot to get to grips 

with what is the appropriate way to deal with this, what I would 5 

foresee, for example, is that you have your mixed density type 

greenfield area, some areas will be the lower density and the lot 

arrangement is going to mean that they can perfectly, easily meet the 

standards that are in rule 6, so there would be no land use consent 

conditions in relation to those lots.   10 

 

 There might be another area which is higher density or it has got lots of 

a different configuration so that the setbacks or the site coverage or 

some other of the built form standards are not going to be appropriate 

for those.  So what I would envisage is that in the land use component 15 

of the comprehensive consent you may have something that says in this 

area A, the setback will be X rather than Y, that sort of approach, it 

would not be specific to particular lots, it would be specific to 

components of the overall area.   

 20 

 It may also be that you have an area that runs along the waterway and 

you might want a special landscaping requirement along the waterway 

or something of that nature.   

 

MS DAWSON:   So my difficulty with that is that when you look at a land use 25 

consent you have to consent something, you do not consent a setback, 

you do not consent a waterway setback or a road setback, you consent 

an activity and if you consent an activity you consent that activity, you 

do not say “well you get consent to this bit but later on you get the 

rest”.  Now, it may be some innovative ways can be developed to do 30 

that but I do think we are a wee way from that. 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   I agree which is why I have not attempted to draft 

something because I do think it needs quite a lot of further thought.  I 

think the principle of the comprehensive consent is a good one but I do 35 

think there is a lot of work needed to be done to see how it is going to 

work in practice so that it does not unnecessarily constrain people, and 

particularly as time goes on once the initial development has happened 

people can put an extension on their house without having to go back to 

get another consent. 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   So I am hearing you that you understand the problem I have 

raised and you accept that there is some work to be done if an 

innovative solution to that is to be developed. 

 45 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 
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MS DAWSON:   Thank you.  That is all, thank you. 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Sax? 

 5 

  [2.30 pm] 

 

MR SAX:   Yes, Ms McIntyre, good afternoon, I have three questions for you.  

I would like to take you a little further on Dr Mitchell’s questions re-, 

perhaps the language used in “restricted discretionary”.  In particular 10 

8.5.4.9, just as an example, when we are looking at infrastructure, let 

me read item 5 by way of example: “When there is a proposed 

subdivision provides a quality and appropriate interface with existing 

or proposed infrastructure including network infrastructures and avoids 

reverse sensitivity in relation to this infrastructure”, that to me would 15 

appear to be highly vague, ambiguous and subjective. 

 

 Do you think that is bad language? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   I think there is considerable room for simplification and 20 

clarification of the assessment matters and particularly in proposal 8 

which, as a whole, which is a matter of another hearing, yes, in 

working towards this hearing, all I have attempted to do is try and, you 

know, deal with the low hanging fruit and do what can be done in the 

time, but I do think that there is considerable room for improvement. 25 

 

MR SAX:   So is it an overarching concept in, where there is restricted 

discretionary, do we need to be developing a language that is clear and 

concise as we can get for both applicant and for Council officers, 

because I would hate to be Council officer, be an (INDISTINCT 1.35) 30 

position would it not? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   I agree, yes. 

 

MR SAX:   Okay, thank you.  Could I move on to brownfields, I note in your 35 

4.4 there does not include a policy framework as required under the 

Land Use Recovery Plan, we have heard that brownfields often are 

very well reticulated - - -  

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 40 

 

MR SAX:   - - - as opposed to the difficulties in some of the intensification 

residential. Mr Blair’s confirmed that. I am not sure how much you 

have applied your mind to brownfields, but are there other positives or 

plusses that we should really be bringing to the fore, is it might be 45 
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again the low hanging fruit in being able to expedite errors where there 

may be impediments in others? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Well, I think the thing with brownfield sites as, I mean as 

Mr Blair alluded to I think, is that every site has its own characteristics. 5 

There are certainly some brownfield sites that are very well serviced 

that have good transport connections and that are – well you think 

would be right for development, there are also constraints in terms of 

things like contamination or, you know, the remains of previous 

building that will require a bit of money to get rid of. 10 

 

 So I think it is hard to make a set of rules that applies to anything that 

might be considered brownfield in general, that is really why the 

Crown has taken the approach in terms of brownfield as to say, “Well 

let’s have a policy, an enabling policy” and then I then apply specific 15 

sites which we know there is enough information to know that, you 

know those are going to be certain in terms of infrastructure and 

connections and other things.  

 

 It is a little bit difficult to make general statements about the qualities 20 

of brownfield sites because of their different histories. 

 

MR SAX:   Can you give me a little help on noise vectors.  I understand you to 

say that most other urban areas in New Zealand adopt or have adopted 

a different noise vector to what Christchurch presently has.  What is 25 

international best practice, do you know and what sort of noise vectors 

- - -  

 

MS MCINTYRE:   I am only familiar with the New Zealand situation, but I 

know that both in terms of the airport noise standard and the Port noise 30 

standard, the levels that get looked at are 55 dBA Ldn‘s and 65 dBA 

Ldn‘s, so 65 is the, you know what is the, in an area where it tends to be 

deemed as “severely affected” and some serious action needs to be 

taken and the 55 level is more of a, you know it is a sort of a 

precautionary level. 35 

 

MR SAX:   So the 50 decibel level is about typical of a suburban street on 

modest traffic flow, so is that – so are we going overboard in terms of 

50 dBA in your view? 

 40 

MS MCINTYRE:   I mean I am not an acoustic expert and I am sort of 

reluctant to get into a lot of detail about that.  My understanding is that 

it is hard to compare different types of noise in terms of those levels 

because they have all different characters, so - - -  

 45 

MR SAX:   Thank you, no further questions. 
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SJH:   Judge. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you, Mr Chairman, I just want to cover three 

topics, new neighbourhood centres, intensification and some matters to 5 

do with the airport that you covered earlier. 

 

  [2.35 pm] 

 

 On the neighbourhood centres issue, and I appreciate this is a matter in 10 

which whether or not an activity is described and whether it can incur a 

land use consent or not is a matter on which we will have assistance 

from legal counsel, so I am not going to put you on the spot too much. 

 

 But just I guess following up a little bit on your discussion with 15 

Ms Dawson, do you understand as I do that a land use consent is 

typically described as a bundle of rights? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So conceptually at least I hear what you say, I have read 

what you said in your evidence and listened to what you have to say 

about that in terms of the need for greater clarity.  But if conceptually 

the bundle of rights by which land use consent grants authority is 

effectively to enable something to happen that might otherwise be 25 

subject to greater restriction, do you think that is a character of activity 

that might be sufficient for land use purposes? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   That is really what I have been trying to sort of work 

through in terms of the new neighbourhoods is how we can have 30 

something that enables the shape of development that is intended for 

the subdivision to happen without too much. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  And there is an analogy there, isn’t there, with, for 

instance, envelopes of rights that might be given by way of an envelope 35 

consent with the detail to be filled in a bit like a patchwork quilt later 

on? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 

 40 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So perhaps I will leave that there and these are matters on 

which I am sure we will have further assistance from counsel.  

 

 Just a couple of other matters, I want to take you to your policy on 

intensification on page 7 of Mr Blair’s rebuttal version of the Plan 45 

provisions.  Could you take yourself to that, it is on page 7. 
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MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   I want you to focus your eyes on the first line of A and 

over to the right hand side where you use the words – or the words are 5 

used, I should say, in Mr Blair’s draft “to meet demand for”.  Now, I 

took from your evidence generally and also your answers to questions, 

that you do not subscribe to a view that we should simply plan for 

demand or need? 

 10 

MS MCINTYRE:   That is right. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Well, reflecting on that, do you think those words should 

be there or not given everything else should remain? 

 15 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes, I think you are right there.  I do not think they are 

necessary and I think that, given those criteria, there is really no reason 

why they should not be available for that level of development. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  Now, the next thing I want to talk to you 20 

about is the Regional Policy Statement, so if you could have available 

to you the Regional Policy Statement, policy 6.3.5.   

 

 Now, this was opened up, you did not really cover specifically in your 

evidence but Ms Scott opened you up with a question on this, and my 25 

notes on your answer were referring to – I have got a note here, her 

question was in regard to this policy, your answer included this 

statement, your concern was as to “inconsistency of approach with all 

other district plans around New Zealand” and so forth, and you were 

cross-examined by Ms Appleyard on this. 30 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   My question is this, we have heard other planners say that 

the proper approach to applying a policy is to read the policy on its 35 

face, perhaps in light of the interpretative reasoning that is set with that 

policy in the document itself and not by reference to extraneous 

material, do you have a different view? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   No. 40 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Appreciating you are put on the spot, do you agree that 

your answer therefore does not assist us? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   In terms of that policy, no. 45 
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JUDGE HASSAN:   So turning to the policy itself, if you look at paragraph 5 

and if you could just scroll up to that please.  Now, the Crown’s 

submissions are to the effect of addressing, they address the entire 

policy and they refer to policy 5 and they refer to the lack of section 32 

analysis as being the reason why they think the Airport has not made its 5 

case, do you accept that? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Is your understanding of section 32 that it is evidence 10 

based? 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   As much as it can be, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   And our obligations under it are under section 32AA, 15 

aren’t they? 

 

  [2.40 pm] 

 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 20 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   So would I be correct to understand that our obligations in 

interpreting this policy should be by reference to all of the evidence 

before the Panel? 

 25 

MS MCINTYRE:   Yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you.  

 

SJH:   Ms Scott, anything arising from the Panel’s questions? 30 

 

MS SCOTT:   No, thank you, sir.   

 

SJH:   Ms Appleyard?  

 35 

MS APPLEYARD:   No. 

 

SJH:   Mr Cleary? 

 

MR CLEARY:   No thank you, sir.   40 

 

SJH:   Mrs Broughton? 

 

MS BROUGHTON:   I do have one, please.  

 45 

SJH:   It has got to arise from our questions though, not just another question. 
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MS BROUGHTON:   No, thank you.  

 

SJH:   Okay, because you have had your opportunity.  Mr Radich? 

 5 

MR RADICH:   No, thank you, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  You may stand down and you are free to go.   

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [2.40 pm] 10 

 

SJH:   Mr Nixon? 

 

<ROBERT CHARLES NIXON, sworn [2.41 pm] 

15 
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SJH:   Well, I will have to play Counsel for the submitters that you appear for 

Mr Nixon.  Your full name is Robert Charles Nixon? 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes, sir.   

 5 

SJH:   Your qualifications are set out in your statement of evidence? 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes, sir.  

 

SJH:   That is dated – does it have a date? 10 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes, 20 March 2015. 

 

SJH:   20 March 2015.  Can you confirm it is true and correct, or do you have 

some corrections to make to it? 15 

 

MR NIXON:   I can confirm it is true and correct, sir. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  If you would then give us your summary of it, please? 

 20 

MR NIXON:   Yes, sir.  Well, my evidence today relates to the status of 

schools, spiritual facilities and health care facilities in residential zones. 

 

 It would probably be helpful if I provide some background to these 

particular submissions.  At the time that phase one was lodged last year 25 

there was no certainty as to what the final stages of these activities 

would be in the new Plan.  We did not know if they would be subject to 

normal residential rules or if they have their own specialist zonings, 

objectives and policies and such like, or other form of treatment, and it 

appeared that their status would be determined once phase 2 was 30 

notified. 

 

 So, accordingly, the submissions that were lodged in October last year 

attempted to cover all the bases effectively.  And I became aware in 

February this year that the draft phase 2 provisions would provide for a 35 

school zone, that spiritual facilities, at least those existing pre-1995 

would be scheduled, and there would be a zone for health care 

facilities.  And that is a similar approach that they have taken in the 

Operative Plan, and I broadly support that. 

 40 

 However, as well as being disintegrated over different stages of the 

Plan preparation process, and it is probably unavoidable to some 

degree, the objectives, policies and rules affecting these activities were 

or are potentially dispersed over residential zone objectives and 

policies, future schools and hospital zones, future scheduling 45 

provisions, transport provisions, which include a critical traffic 
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generation rule and an even later stage, listed heritage buildings, listed 

trees and noise rules, which does make it quite difficult for these 

submitters to put together a coherent case.   

 

 From what I understand will form part of phase 2, my evidence at this 5 

stage is focused on objective 14.1.7, which is the objective in the Plan 

relating to non-residential activities in residential areas and its 

associated three policies.   

 

 Even if activities such as spiritual facilities, schools and health facilities 10 

have their own specialist zones or scheduling arrangements, and their 

own objectives and policies, it is inevitable that applications relating to 

their onsite redevelopment or expansion will bring into play the 

objective and policy for non-residential activities, that is 14.1.7, 

because these activities are almost invariably surrounded by, or 15 

adjoining, residential zones. 

 

 And I note that Mr Blair acknowledges this point in his evidence. 

 

 I have taken part in mediation held on 18 March where there was 20 

significant common ground with the Church Property Trustees, the 

spiritual facilities, and with CERA, in terms of the appropriate changes 

that are required to objective 14.1.7 and its associated policies.  There 

is now also significant common ground with the Council. 

 25 

  [2.45 pm] 

 

 Subsequent to my evidence being submitted I received text changes as 

proposed by the Council Planner, Mr Scott Blair.  Although I prefer the 

text changes set out in my own evidence, I consider the wording 30 

changes he has proposed with the exception of propose policy 

14.1.7.2(a), to be acceptable. 

 

 Now the key points which I seek to have changed from the current 

objective and policies. First one is that the term “non-residential 35 

activities” is enormously wide and could include anything from a home 

occupation to a large industrial activity, and I think that became very 

clear through the mediation process. 

 

 Given this, it is not appropriate to lump such a wide range of activities 40 

under a single objective and policy seeking the same environmental 

outcomes under the same policy framework. 

 

 Second issue, is some non-residential activities, as defined in the Plan, 

are clearly more suitable and moreover are commonly anticipated 45 

within residential zones - and these include spiritual facilities, schools 
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and healthcare facilities.  These fall under the definition of “community 

facilities” in the Replacement Plan and I consider it desirable to 

separate this group of activities out from other non-residential activities 

generally. 

 5 

 Now, in passing I have made reference to “home occupations” which 

are another example of “small scale activities” but which do not fall 

within the definition of community facilities.  

 

 Other activities which the Panel will subsequent hear about from other 10 

parties include activities such as emergency services. 

 

 Third factor I wanted to raise is that the objective and policy 

framework should not exclude community facilities which are not 

necessarily local.  Some schools, churches and healthcare facilities may 15 

serve specialised sections of the community and will not be found as 

local facilities in each suburb – well for example you will not get a 

Nurse Maude in every suburb or a St Mark’s Christian School in each 

suburb, so they will have big catchments.  They may draw their 

clientele from a wider area of the city. 20 

 

 And finally, the policy framework under 14.1.7.3 is notified, sets a very 

high threshold for any of these activities being expanded or 

redeveloped onsite. It can be expected that as time passes, school 

facilities, churches and healthcare facilities will have existing buildings 25 

replaced by newer and more modern facilities, which in some cases 

will be larger in scale and which in a small number of cases might 

require additional land to be acquired. 

 

 Now the wording changes I have sought would in my opinion properly 30 

recognise the above points, and I believe the parties involved in 

considering the non-residential objective and associated policies 

including the Council, are close to reaching a point where agreement on 

suitable wording can be achieved. 

 35 

 As a final point I just make the point that I will be taking a keen interest 

in the rules which will be notified as part of subsequent phase 2 as well 

as matters arising during the hearings on transport matters, so to cover 

the one submission we really have got to come to a number of the 

different hearings, but that is just life I guess. 40 

 

SJH:   Thank you, Mr Nixon. Mr Radich? 

 

MR RADICH:   Mr Carranceja. 

 45 

<CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR CARRANCEJA [2.48 pm] 
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MR CARRANCEJA:   Thank you, sir. Good afternoon, Mr Nixon. 

 

MR NIXON:   Good afternoon. 

 5 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Now you mentioned during your summary, very 

helpfully thank you very much, that on 18 March you participated in I 

guess mediation with some other planners, including Vicky Barker for 

the Crown. 

 10 

MR NIXON:   I did, yes. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   And Scott Blair for the Council as well. 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes. 15 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes. Now that resulted in further discussions as 

between yourself and Vicky Barker and I think Rochelle Hardy as well, 

which resulted in a set of provisions that were provided to Mr Blair for 

his consideration, you - - -  20 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes, that is right. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes.  Have you had a chance to see Mr Blair’s rebuttal 

evidence, particularly his attachment A, we have called it “The 26 25 

March Version of the Provisions”. 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes, I have and I have got them in front of me now. 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Great.  Could I get you to turn please to pages 16 and 30 

17, that is where the non-residential activity objective and related 

policies are. 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes. 

 35 

MR CARRANCEJA:   I just want your view, those words that Mr Blair has 

now proposed, are they consistent with the discussions you have had at 

mediation and do they address the concerns you have previously raised 

in your evidence? 

 40 

MR NIXON:   Well looking at each of them in turn, yes your brownfield sites 

did not come up in mediation that I can recall - - -  

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes. 

 45 
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MR NIXON:   - - - presume there is a valid reason for it being there, I do 

wonder whether it may be better just to separate that out, may be as a 

sub-clause C and just have something related to specifically brownfield 

sites rather than having the words repeated over and over again. 

 5 

  [2.50 pm] 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes. 

 

MR NIXON:   As for policy 14.1.7 and Mr Blair’s A and B, I would consider 10 

that to be acceptable.  The only one that I am not particularly keen on is 

14.1.7.2A at the bottom of page 17 - - - 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes. 

 15 

MR NIXON:   - - - it is just that the middle words in there reading “which may 

have adverse effects including traffic generation, car parking and 

noise” again in my view, have an element of negativity to them, which 

is probably not intentional, but nevertheless, I think is unnecessary.  I 

would prefer the wording such as, “subject to being compatible with 20 

residential amenity and character” which I think is a more positive way 

of expressing those concerns? 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Okay, and look in terms of the other policies you find 

within when looking at 14.1.7.3, over the page on page 18, just the 25 

remainder of the policies regarding non-residential activities.  Again, 

they are consistent with your discussions at mediation and you find 

them acceptable? 

 

MR NIXON:   They would be acceptable, yes. 30 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Thank you.  Now you did raise a point in an earlier 

answer to my question, you mentioned that reference to ‘brownfield 

sites’, which you said was not discussed at mediation. 

 35 

 What I want to ask you, Mr Nixon, that in terms of achieving clarity 

and usability and efficiency in this Plan, would you agree that we do 

need some clarity here regarding how you treat brownfield sites in that 

you do need to treat them separately from these sets of non-residential 

activity provisions? 40 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes, certainly, I can appreciate that.  When I say it did not come 

up, I just do not recall it coming up, I am certainly not saying it is not 

an issue- - - 

 45 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes. 
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MR NIXON:   - - - if it is an issue and it could well be and I am aware there are 

issues around brownfield sites in Woolston, for example, I certainly 

agree it should be dealt with.  

 5 

 My personal view though is that it should form another subset of 

14.1.7, maybe a C, so you do not have to keep repeating those words 

and you have objectives and policies which are specific to the 

brownfield sites.  

 10 

MR CARRANCEJA:   I am wondering perhaps, what we could have is – and I 

want to hear your view on this – that perhaps, to make it clear close to 

objective 14.1.7, you have a cross reference that say that when you are 

dealing with brownfield sites, you go to a completely different set of 

objectives and policies, and I refer you to page 19 of Mr Blair’s 15 

appendix. 

 

 Do you see that, page 19 at the top, you have got a new objective and a 

new policy regarding the redevelopment of brownfield sites. You might 

not have seen this, look I will get you - - - 20 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes, I have seen that.  Another possibility would be to put under 

objective 14.1.7, a note that might read something like, “with respect to 

brownfield sites refer to objective 14.1.8 and policy 14”, whatever it 

happens to be. 25 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, and that would assist the reader a lot better so that 

- - -  

 

MR NIXON:   Yes. 30 

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   Yes, great, thank you, no further questions. 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  Dr Mitchell. 

 35 

DR MITCHELL:   No thank you, sir, I do not have any questions, thank you, 

Mr Nixon. 

 

SJH:   Ms Dawson. 

 40 

MS DAWSON:   Just one question of clarification, Mr Nixon.  I notice that we 

agree – the provisions that were discussed at mediation have looked at 

– I am talking about the definitions here, so definitions of places with 

assembly and community activities. 

 45 
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 So in order to avoid bundling all of these activities into the rules for 

places of assembly, there is a provision for worship and churches and 

halls is to be taken out of the places of assembly definition and then 

separate rules for spiritual activities are provided for in the zones? 

 5 

MR NIXON:  Yes, that is my understanding. 

 

MS DAWSON:   I just wondered whether it was a problem in that the 

definition of places of assembly also includes community facilities.  It 

says “including community facilities.”  And then when you look at the 10 

community facilities, it is all these activities like worship and 

healthcare and education by inference brought back in to the definition 

of place of assembly again. 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes, I recall it in the original submission that was lodged by the 15 

Diocese for example, that we commented on the definitions and one of 

the concerns expressed was, if you have an activity based plan you 

have got to be a bit careful because there are risks in having activities 

that come under more than one definition.     

 20 

MS DAWSON:   That is right. 

 

MR NIXON:   I have not pursued that very strongly in here because I have sort 

of focused in on the objectives and policies, but yes, that is a concern of 

mine.  For the purposes of this particular exercise, what I have tried to 25 

do is say, well, let us take community facilities sort of out of the 

non-residential area which I say, could include nickel smelters, and put 

them and say that these are different, these are things you expect in a 

residential area and have policies relating to them as distinct from the 

obviously inappropriate non-residential activities. 30 

 

  [2.55 pm] 

 

MS DAWSON:   Yes, and then when you come to the rules, those community 

facilities, like spiritual and education and healthcare, have got separate 35 

rules with significantly less standards applied, as I understand it, than 

all the rest of the piece. 

 

MR NIXON:   That is quite right, and the policy and rules framework should 

reflect each other. 40 

 

MS DAWSON:   They separate them, yes. 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes. 

 45 

MS DAWSON:   All right, thank you very much. 
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SJH:   Mr Sax? 

 

MR SAX:   No questions, thank you. 

 5 

SJH:   Judge? 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you Mr Chairman.  Just one, it is probably a matter 

of clarification Mr Nixon. Could you go to page 31 of the Plan 

provisions, the latest version which you have got in front of you there.  10 

And this is just a question, it does not come out of the evidence.  I just 

wanted to get something clarified.   

 

 So the reference to spiritual facilities there as an example of permitted 

activity and there will be other references to that somewhere else, that 15 

would include churches and religious - - - 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes, well the term spiritual facilities is designed to encompass 

churches or mosques or temples or anything of a religious nature. 

 20 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes.  Now, just looking at the hours of operation on the 

right hand side, could you go to that please.  No, it is gone.  So in front 

of you, so you limit the hours of operation to 7.00 am to 10.00 pm.  

Was there any discussion or was there any issue in regard to providing 

any limited exception for, say, Easter rituals, Christmas, those sorts of 25 

specials occasions where churches or other, and there may be other 

special times with other religious groups, where there needs to be some 

exception for that, or was that decided to be beyond the pale, those 

things should be the matters for consent? 

 30 

MR NIXON:   Yes, those matters were considered, I have not addressed them 

here because it looks like they are going to be forming part of the rules 

package in phase 2 for scheduled activities.  So I must confess I have 

not really addressed that in detail, but it has come up in the discussions 

that I was involved in, with the Diocese for example, when we framed 35 

their submission back in October last year. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Yes, so what you are saying is, from the Panel’s point of 

view for this chapter decision making now we can just run with those 

words, and the rest of it will come back for consideration later? 40 

 

MR NIXON:   Yes, well I would certainly hope that is the case, yes. 

 

JUDGE HASSAN:   Thank you. 

 45 

SJH:  Anything arising? 
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MR RADICH:   No, thank you.   

 

MR CARRANCEJA:   No, sir, thank you. 

 5 

SJH:   Thank you Mr Nixon, you may stand down.   

 

<THE WITNESS WITHDREW [2.57 pm] 

 

SJH:   Thank you.  We will adjourn until 9.30 tomorrow morning. 10 

 

MATTER ADJOURNED AT 2.57 PM UNTIL 

THURSDAY, 2 APRIL 2015 


